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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEBRENREEENWEDN

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts, the trading of rubber and food
products. The Group deploys financial resource to securities
investment to achieve earnings in the form of capital appreciation
and income from dividends. The Group also taps into the business of
financial services through the investment in a securities house.

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related products is one
of the principal business of the Group. The Group manufactures its
products with single layer or multiple layers of nonwoven fabric in
accordance with specific requirements and standards of different
customers. Most of the customers of nonwoven fabric related
products are primary manufacturers and suppliers of automotive
parts in the PRC. The majority of the Group's products are further
processed by these customers in order to make different automotive
parts such as floor, head lining, seat cover, parcel tray, trunk,
luggage-side trim, hubcap and car-mat, which are of different
characteristics and are to be applied for different usages in passenger
vehicles.

According to the statistics released from China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers ("CAAM"), the production and sales of
passenger vehicles in the PRC were approximately 23,836,000 units
and 23,563,000 units respectively for the year ended 31 December
2022, representing an increase of approximately 11.2% and 9.5%.
These favorable growth in passenger vehicles market resulted in a
stable demand for automotive materials of the Group during 2022.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBEREEENRESN (F

In order to diversify the Group’s existing business portfolio and
broaden its source of income in automotive industry, the Group set
up new production lines in Jilin Province, the PRC in the second
half of 2021 for the supply of the automotive components (the
“Automotive Components”) to a components supplier of an
automotive manufacturer under the brand “FAW Toyota”.

Supply and procurement operation

The Group commenced its business of rubber trading since 2012
and the quoted price of rubber was generally varied according to
the tendency of the commodities markets. To manage the risk, the
Group mainly carried out that business in back-to-back model. As
the significant fluctuation in price of top commodities, crude oil, the
Group only accepted the orders with lower default risk.

Since 2016, the Group resumed the business of trading of food
products which generated steady income to the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Interests in associates

The Company through a joint venture company indirectly hold 42%
of the equity interest in GEO Securities Limited (“GEO Securities”)
and classified as “interests in associates” at 31 December 2022. GEO
Securities has the licenses to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Future Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The Group
shared a gain of associates of approximately RMB0.29 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEBEREEENREDN (F

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 was illustrated as follows:

Bt %5 10 R

A
BE-_S-_—f#R-_T-_—4+-F=+—A1t
FEAREENRARIINT :

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2022 2021
—E=-= -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR T T
Nonwoven fabric related products for use RRAREMESMIBEE®R
in automobiles
— Sales of automotive floor carpets —REMBMEE 136,083 157,976
- Sales of other automotive parts —EMABERGNEE 34,769 6,554
Sales of rubber BBHHEE 5,599 6,719
Sales of food products REmriEE 7,585 10,452
184,036 181,701

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's revenue
increased to approximately RMB184.0 million, compared to
approximately RMB181.7 million in 2021, representing an increase of
approximately 1.3%. The increase in the Group’s revenue was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue of sale of other automotive
parts, such as Automotive Components.

Gross profit

As a result of increasing competition in the automotive industry in
the PRC, for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's gross
profit decreased by approximately 18.9% to approximately RMB19.5
million.

Other gain or losses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's other gain or
losses changed from a gain of approximately RMB7.3 million in 2021
to a loss of approximately RMB19.1 million in 2022. It was mainly
due to fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL") of approximately RMB20.3 million in 2022. The
fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL mainly comprised of
the fair value loss on investment in a discretionary investment fund
("Discretionary Fund”) (approximately 4.7 million), and in listed
equity securities of Tai Kam Holdings Limited (approximately RMB4.1
million) and China e-wallet Payment Group Limited (approximately
RMB2.5 million). Further information of the financial assets at FVTPL
are disclosed in the “Significant Investments” section below.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBEREEENRESN (F

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
RMB18.6 million to approximately RMB42.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Group's administrative expenses
mainly consist of employee benefits expenses including Director’s
emoluments and staff costs of approximately RMB14.9 million,
share based payment expenses of approximately RMB3.0 million,
depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately RMB2.9 million,
and one-off compensation to the staff of approximately RMB8.1
million and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMB10.0 million in connection with the relocation of
production lines from Wuxi to Cangzhou and Chengdu.

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company

The loss attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB78.6 million for the year of 2022 compared with
a loss of approximately RMBO0.4 million for the corresponding period
of 2021. The increase are primarily attributable to fair value loss on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net allowance for
expected credit losses and the one-off expenses in connection with
the relocation of production line during the year ended 31 December
2022.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The Board expects that 2023 will be a challenging year for the
business of manufacturing and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products as the continuously increase in production costs for
maintaining competitiveness and enhancing safety requirements to
cope with the development of the automotive industry.

To maintain competitiveness, the Group will still deploy its resources
on:

(1) upgrading the production lines in order to improve the
production efficiency;

(2) installing new machineries to suit the customers’ varying
requirements and demands on high-end products;

(3) conducting research and development to keep up with
the latest technological trends in relation to product
specifications; and

4) strengthening the quality control systems to retain customer
loyalty and reinforce the Group’s reputation in the nonwoven
fabric related products industry in the PRC.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEBEREEENREDN (F

As a result of the increasing risk of volatility in rubber price since
the fluctuation in price of crude oil, the Group would be cautious in
accepting orders to avoid any downside exposure. For the business
of trading of food products, the Group will continue to find new
customers to strengthen its customer base.

In addition, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach to
manage its money lending business and on the other hands to seek
for opportunities to expand this operation.

Going forward, with a view to achieving better return and enhancing
the expansion of the Group, the Group will look for potential
investment opportunities to diversify its business scope.

RAISING OF FUNDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 16 February 2021, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place up to 71,663,616 placing shares
at a price of HK$0.32 per placing share (the “Placing”). The placing
shares were allotted and issued on 3 May 2021. Net proceeds from
the Placing was approximately HK$22.3 million (the “Net Proceeds”)
which was intended to be applied as to (i) approximately HK$10.3
million for repaying the bank borrowings; and (ii) approximately
HK$12.0 million for installation and general working capital of the
business in Automotive Components. At 31 December 2022, the Net
Proceeds were fully utilised as intended.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing during 2022. At 31 December 2022,
cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB25.3 million (2021: RMB24.6 million), and approximately
RMB12.9 million (2021: RMB15.8 million) of which are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s liquidity ratio, represented by
the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, and gearing ratio,
represented by the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, were 1.41
(2021: 1.83) and 0.60 (2021: 0.45) respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Except 7,900,000 ordinary shares of the Company were issued in
relation to share options exercised under the share option scheme of
the Company on 6 May 2022, there has been no material change in
the capital structure of the Group during the year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBEREEENRESN (F

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Majority of the assets and liabilities of the Group were denominated
in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. At
31 December 2022, the Group had no significant exposure under
foreign exchange contracts, interest, currency swaps or other
financial derivatives.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2022, the Group held (i) approximately 22.8 million
shares (approximately 2.6%) of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited
("WG"), (ii) approximately 5.5 million shares (approximately 1.9%) of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (“HD") and (iii) approximately
11.0 million shares (approximately 4.8%) of Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (“LF”). WG, HD and LF were the companies
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. WG is principally
engaged in trading of natural resources and commodities; money
lending business; development and promotion of brands, design,
manufacture and sale of trendy fashion merchandises and other
consumer products; and investment in securities. HD is principally
engaged in the investments in listed and unlisted securities. LF is
principally engaged in providing financial services including securities
broking, margin financing and money lending etc., as well as
manufacturing and distributing children plastic toys and medical care
products.

At 31 December 2021, the Group also hold Discretionary Fund,
which ceased operations in 2022, of approximately RMB14.8 million
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The investment
in the Discretionary Fund was approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the general meeting of the Company held on
16 February 2016. The Discretionary Fund was managed by a
corporation licensed under the Securities and Future Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The investment objective
of the Discretionary Fund was to generate income and/or achieve
capital appreciation through investing in a variety of the authorized
investments.

The Group's investment in WG, HD and LF were collectively referred
to as the “Significant Investments”.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEBEREEENREDN (F

Detail of the Significant Investments are as follows:

Year ended
31 December
2022

Fair Value
loss

DFEBR
RMB’000
AR®T R
(Audited)
(EER)

841
1,409
755

WG BE
HD
LF Bk & B

At 31 December 2022, the financial assets at FVTPL comprised 16
listed equity securities in Hong Kong and except the above, there
was no investment held by the Group which value was more than 1%
of the total assets of the Group.

Looking ahead, the value of the Significant Investments may be
susceptible to the overall equity market conditions.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

There was no material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2022, the Group's investment property (2021:
buildings) with a carrying amounts of approximately RMB4.1 million
(2021: RMB4.8 million) and leasehold land with a carrying amounts
of approximately RMB2.3 million (2021: RMB2.3 million) were
pledged to banks for bank borrowings.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

BERKEFEWT :
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBEREEENRESN (F

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 96 employees
(2021: 223). The remuneration policy of the employees of the
Group was set up by the Board on the basis of their experience,
qualifications and competence. Other employees’ benefits include
contributions to statutory mandatory provident funds, and social
insurance together with housing provident funds to its employees in
Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

A remuneration committee was set up for, inter alia, reviewing the
Group's remuneration policy and structure for all directors and senior
management of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, business
partners and investors for their support and trust towards the Group.
Further, I would like to express my sincere thanks to our Directors
and employees for their dedications and contributions to the Group.

By order of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEENBERER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, aged 60, is the Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and founder of the Group. He
was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April 2010. He
has over 15 years of experience in the nonwoven textile industry.
He is responsible for formulating the Group’s corporate strategy,
overseeing its production operations and the overall steering of the
Group's strategic development.

Mr. Zhuang graduated from Xiamen Fisheries College in 1981
and was approved as a qualified engineer by the Intermediate
Level Adjudication Committee of Xiamen City Marine Engineering
Department in 1990. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Zhuang was the
director and the general manager of Xiamen Marine Industries
(Group) Co., Limited, a PRC incorporated company and was
previously listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wong Ho Yin, aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director
and company secretary on 30 June 2011. He graduated from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a Master of Corporate Governance
Degree and a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong was the financial controller
and company secretary of a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. He has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate compliance.

Ms. Xiao Suni, aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director on
14 October 2014. She has over 10 years of experience in the field
of international trading and marketing. She holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from Nanjing Army Command College, the PRC with major
in English. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for a door-window
manufacturer in the PRC as foreign trade manager, in which her
responsibilities focused on overall management of foreign sales and
marketing.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EENGREEENEBEER (&

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mak Wai Ho, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 September 2011. He was graduated
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a
Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom and a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is a practising certified public
accountant and has more than 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting and auditing.

Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 September 2015. Ms. Ng has over 10
years of experience in human resources and corporate management.
Ms. Ng obtained a Certificate of Human Resources Management from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2011 and was a senior administrative
officer of a renowned international information technology company
in Hong Kong.

Ms. Zhu Chunyan, aged 46, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 September 2016. Ms. Zhu was graduated
from Xiangtan University, China, with a bachelor’s degree majoring in
finance and accounting in July 1999. Prior to joining the Group, she
worked for a sizable travel related services company in the PRC as an
accountant and gained extensive knowledge in corporate finance and
management.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wu Danping, aged 48, is the manager of the accounting
department of Joystar (Wuxi) Automotive Interior Decoration Co., Ltd.
("Joystar Wuxi”). Ms. Wu is responsible for the financial reporting
and the management of the accounting and finance department of
Joystar Wuxi.

Ms. Wu obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional issued
by the Jiangsu Province Department of Finance and the Qualification
Certificate of Specialty and Technology with specialty in accountancy
conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in 1997 and 2006
respectively.

In 2008, Ms. Wu completed an online diploma programme in
accountancy from China Agricultural University. She has 18 years of
experience in financial accounting and reporting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2022. This report highlights the key
corporate governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company's corporate governance practices are
based on principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Except for the deviation from Code provision C.2.1, the Company
complied with the Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such deviation from
Code provision C.2.1 is deemed appropriate as it is considered to
be more efficient to have one single person as the Chairman of
the Company as well as to discharge the executive functions of a
chief executive officer, and it provides the Group with strong and
consistent leadership in the development and execution of long
term business strategies. The Board believes that the balance of
power and authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the
Board which comprises highly experienced individuals. There are
three independent non-executive Directors on the Board. All of them
possess adequate independence and therefore the Board considers
the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient protection
of its interests.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
code of conduct and the required standard of dealings concerning
securities transactions by the Directors during the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At 31 December 2022, the Board comprises three executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ho Yin
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
"Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 12 to 13 of this report.

Generally, the responsibilities of the Board include:
o Formulation of overall strategic development of the Group;

o Monitoring the financial performance, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group’s business operations;

o Evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives,
and ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems are in places;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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o Material acquisitions, investments, disposal of assets or any
significant capital expenditure;

o Appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members
and auditors;

o Remuneration of Directors;

o Communications with key stakeholders;

o Recommendation and declaration of any interim and final
dividends.

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. The non-executive
Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgment on the development, performance and risk management
of the Group through their contributions in board meetings. They are
also serving on remuneration committee, nomination committee and
audit committee.

During the year, the Board complies with the requirement of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors and at least one of them has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The independent non-executive
Directors do not hold any management position in the Group. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.
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lt%ﬂ; \Aiﬁﬂ: (/ME

The Board normally has four regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required to discuss the overall
business, development strategy, operations and financial reporting
of the Company. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. During the year ended
31 December 2022, five Board meetings and one general meeting
were held. The following table shows the attendance of individual
Directors at the meetings held during the year:

No. of attendance

General Board
Members meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 11 5/5
Mr. Wong Ho Yin 11 5/5
Ms. Xiao Suni 11 5/5
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho M 5/5
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 7 4/5
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 171 5/5

The Directors will receive details of agenda and minutes of committee
meetings in advance of and after each Board meeting respectively.
The company secretary will distribute relevant documents to the
Directors in a timely manner to enable the Directors to make
informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board meetings.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties
to the Company. Moreover, the company secretary prepares minutes
of the Board meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and
decisions resolved at all Board meetings. The company secretary
also keeps the minutes of the Board meetings, which are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Such deviation from Code provision C.2.1 is deemed
appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to have one single
person as the Chairman of the Company as well as to discharge the
executive functions of a chief executive officer, and it provides the
Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development
and execution of long-term business strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced
individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors on
the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and therefore
the Board considers the Company has achieved balance and provided
sufficient protection of its interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once in every three years. A Director appointed
since the most recent annual general meeting shall hold office
only until the next general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re-election. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed
at specific terms for one year.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All the Directors
also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training
or read relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has received from each Director
a confirmation of their participation in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity properties of the Board that are
relevant to the business growth of the Company. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

At the date of this report, the composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
ERERRE (&)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the remuneration committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages, determining the award of bonuses and considering the
grant of options under the share option scheme of the Company.
At 31 December 2022, the remuneration committee comprises one
executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho (chairman of the
remuneration committee) and Ms. Zhu Chunyan.

During the year, two meetings was held by the remuneration
committee to discuss, among other things, the remuneration policy
of the Group and determine the remuneration of the Directors. The
following table shows the attendance of individual members at the
meetings held during the year:
Members No. of attendance

Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 2/2

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 2/2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. In reviewing and accessing the composition
of the Board and the nomination of Directors, Board diversity
has to be considered through a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services.
The nomination committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (chairman of the nomination committee), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho and
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline.

During the year, two meetings was held by the nomination
committee to, among other things, review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and make recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors. The nomination
committee also reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure its
effectiveness and considered the Group achieved the policy since its
adoption. The following table shows the attendance of individual
members at the meeting held during the year:

Members No. of attendance
Executive Director

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 0/2
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee on 13 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. At 31 December 2022, the audit committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai
Ho (chairman of the audit committee), Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline and
Ms. Zhu Chunyan.

During the year, two meetings were held by the audit committee.
The following table shows the attendance of individual members at
the meetings held during the year:

No. of attendance

Members

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 2/2
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 2/2

During the year, the audit committee, among other things, reviewed
the interim and annual reports as well as result announcements
before submission to the Board. The audit committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and
practices but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and the legal requirements in review of the Company’s
interim and annual reports as well as result announcements. The
audit committee also reviewed the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems and make recommendation
to the Board on the re-appointment of the external auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code provision A.2.1.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of Directors,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Listing Rules, and
the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditors and also reviews any non-audit functions
performed by the external auditors for the Group, including whether
such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse
effect on the Group. During the year, the auditors performed the
work of statutory audit for the year of 2022. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the remuneration payable and paid to the
auditors were as follows:

Audit services EIZRTE
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness to safeguard the Group's assets.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage, rather than eliminate business risk; to help safeguard the
Group’s assets against fraud and other irregularities; and to give
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial
misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions, which included the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Company has taken appropriate measures to identify inside
information and preserve its confidentiality until proper dissemination
via the electronic publication system operated by the Stock Exchange.
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The Company has engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct independent internal control review for the year ended
31 December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Board considered the Group's internal control system as adequate
and effective and that the Company has complied with the code
provisions on risk management and internal control as set out in the
Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company assists the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is also responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters. As an employee of the
Company, Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the company secretary of the Company,
has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge in 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedure for nominating a new Director

Pursuant to Article 83(2) of the articles of association of the
Company (the "Articles”), subject to the Articles and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholder
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months from the date of deposit of the requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedure for sending enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of
their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include the
publication of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements,
circulars and constitutional documents, the Company’s website at
www.hklistco.com/48 and meetings with investors and analysts.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meeting to stay informed of the Group's strategy and goals.
It provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. The chairman of the meeting explains
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any
questions from shareholders. The poll results are published on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board does not aware of any changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group.
The auditors of the Company is responsible to form an independent
opinion based on the audit, on the financial statements prepared by
the Directors and report the opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts, and the trading of rubber and food
products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 is set out in “Chairman’s Statement & Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 11 of this report.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 44 and 45 of this report.

The state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the statement of financial position on pages 46 to 47 of this report and
in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial
Information” on page 144 of this report.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 48 of this report. The movements in the
reserves of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company's reserve available for
distribution to owners of the Company comprising share premium
account amounted to approximately RMBNil (2021: RMBNil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) in January 2019. The Company endeavours
to maintain adequate working capital to develop and operate the
business of the Group and to provide stable and sustainable returns
to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans of
the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual restrictions
on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory restrictions
which the Group is subject to from time to time and any other
relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends may
be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The Board will continually review the Dividend
Policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any
time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 52.7% (2021: 56.4%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted
for approximately 18.9% (2021: 30.4%) of total sales. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 32.4% (2021: 49.7%) of total purchases for the year
and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
8.2% (2021: 32.0%) of total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the
year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties.
The following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the
Group.

Reliance on major customers

In the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 52.7% (2021: 56.4%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 18.9% (2021: 30.4%) of total sales. If any of these
customers ceases to do business with the Group, or substantially
reduces the volume of its business with the Group and if the Group
is unable to secure new customers with similar sales volume and
profit margin, the Group’s business, results of operations and
financial position may be materially and adversely affected.
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Reliance on raw materials

The Group’s production requires large quantities of raw materials,
which are mainly artificial and synthetic fibres, for the production
of nonwoven fabric related products. There is no assurance that
the Group will always be able to secure an adequate supply of raw
materials at commercially viable prices to meet the Group's future
production requirements. Moreover, fluctuations in the prices of the
raw materials may increase the cost of inventories sold and reduce
the gross profit and gross margin of the Group.

Reliance on limited number of suppliers

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 32.4% (2021: 49.7%) of total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 8.2% (2021: 32.0%) of total purchases.
If any of these suppliers do not continue to supply materials and
goods to the Group at favourable or similar prices or at all, the
Group may not be able to find another suitable replacement supplier
in a timely manner or on terms acceptable to the Group or at all, and
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

Other financial risks

The Group also faces other financial risks in the ordinary course of
business. Details of financial risk management objectives and policies
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the importance of good relationships with
its employees. The Group continues to provide training for its staff
to enhance technical and product knowledge as well as knowledge
of industry quality standards. The Group maintains good working
relationships with its employees and has not experienced any material
disruption of its normal business operations due to strikes or labour
disputes.

The Directors believe that the Group's good relationship with its
customers depends on its ability to produce reliable products for
its customers. The Group conducts surveys on customers’ feedback
on the Group's products, the results of which will be analyzed and
used to formulate measures of improvement. This provides a channel
for the Group’s customers to monitor the quality of the Group's
products.

RESENHEES A

AEENEEFTERERME EPIBRAER
ARESE RIEEEERSGMABEMR MERE
SR -—ERKBELANTNERESTENEM
B#tE UENAEERRNEETHK N R
MHERORDITRSTFERA LA TREARAS
BEEMREFE-

HOHHEBWKRE
AEBRAMHERONEBAERGAFERELE
#4932.4% (ZE-—9:49.7% ) M AHEREL
RERRBABENS2% (ZE=-—%F:320%) °
WMEMZEHER T REE N EEREUERR
AEEHERMARER T2 TEE A XE
EARVERFRUANEEATEZNERDERE
& B EER SR AEIEKE B REEHE
BB EERHBRRAEZETRTE-

H fth Bt 35 = B
AEER-—REBERPTAEEGHERR B
MY KRREEERRBROFBEHRNESMB
R M LG

BES FRFRHEBz2BRE

AEBRAEEEERFRIBENERE -AE
SEREERMIEI U HE B TaRil kE
mAR ARHTREERENR B -AEBEEE
BEBAERT ARARIXGEEMMBRERA
—REBES -

EERR AEERAETPHORIFAERIVARER
EFAERREMNREN AEEERTPEALE
BEMNERETALZ XOMBHELER AR
EREREE - LBERAEEEFPFRHERAEBE
mEZRMRE-

4
I
I
H
#

29



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued))
EEgHs (&)

The Group’s major suppliers of its principal business are
manufacturers of artificial and synthetic fibers being the Group’s
primary raw materials. The Directors consider that the reliability of
suppliers are essential to maintaining an efficient production process
of the Group. The Group has laid down detailed supplier selection
procedures, and conducts reviews on its suppliers regularly and also
upon any material changes in the suppliers’ delivery period, quality
of supply, price and service.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Committed to minimizing any environmental impact caused by its
production (such as noise, sewage and exhaust gas), the Group
adopts quality control measures and a comprehensive environmental
management system to ensure that the Group manufactures quality
products with minimum impacts on the environment. Meanwhile,
concerning environmental conservation, the Group follows the
internal guiding principles set out below in operating its business:

o to be committed to complying with relevant laws and
regulations;

o to strengthen the training of staff so that they all participate in
protecting the environment;

o to continuously improve and implement daily environmental
monitoring, review and management so as to prevent pollution;
and

. to economize on the consumption of resources.

Further details will be disclosed in the Company's Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2022 to be published within April
2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group work closely with its advisers and auditors to review the
Group's affairs and ensure full compliance with all applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out
by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself
is listed on the Stock Exchange. As far as the Company is aware, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin
Mr. Wong Ho Yin
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Ms, Ng Li La, Adeline
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Wong Ho Yin, Ms. Xiao Suni, Mr. Mak Wai Ho and Ms. Zhu Chunyan
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All the
retiring Directors are eligible for re-elections.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 12 to
13 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors, including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service agreement
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their experience, qualifications and
competence.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are reviewed
by the remuneration committee of the Company and approved
by the Board, having regard to the relevant Director's experience,
responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group; the
Company'’s operating results and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 5 June 2015 to which the Directors and eligible employees,
among others are entitled to participate in. The Company operates
the Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Share
Option Scheme” on pages 134 to 139 of this report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2022, the interests
and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions of which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of SFO) or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company
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Approximate

Number of Number of percentage
Capacity and nature unlisted ordinary of shareholding
Name of interest shares option shares held Total in the Company
EERT
RKEWEH BREZ
" BORESENME REHE FBEZERHKE st MABDHL
Director
BF
Zhuang Yuejin Beneficial owner 1,670,000 15,164,800 16,834,800 9.61%
T B BERER A
Wong Ho Yin Beneficial owner 1,670,000 790,000 2,460,000 1.40%
AR BEnfER A
Xiao Suni Beneficial owner 1,670,000 790,000 2,460,000 1.40%
H &R i BEnfER A
Zhu Chunyan Beneficial owner - 790,000 790,000 0.45%
REK EmfER A
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Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or of any other body corporate granted
to any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire such rights in the Company
or any body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS

IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on
page 32 of this report, at 31 December 2022, the Directors of the
Company were not aware of any persons who had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in
accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO; or be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group during the
year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on page
32 of this report, at no time during the year was the Company, or
its subsidiaries, or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no material
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2022
are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out
in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, the Directors and
every one of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which the Directors or any of
them, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date of
the Scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant options
to the eligible participants, including but not limited to, any Directors
(whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or
not) and any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any other person, who has contributed to the Group.
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The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may
be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Scheme.
The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting. However, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time. At 31 December 2022 and the date of this report, an
aggregate of 29,460,000 share options granted under the Scheme
remained outstanding, which represented approximately 16.8% of
the issued share capital of the Company. At the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issuance upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme was 17,511,510, which
represented approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at such date. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company has been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be
determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
on the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share. An option
may be accepted by an eligible participant within 28 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option.

On 13 May 2022, an aggregate of 16,700,000 share options granted
under the Scheme to the eligible participants and the closing price
of the shares immediately before the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.415. The fair values of the share options
granted to the eligible participants, which were the employees and
directors of the Company, were approximately RMB1,964,000 and
RMB 1,044,000 respectively.
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The movements in the Company's share options granted to the
eligible participants during the year ended 31 December 2022 were

BERSHAEMERARABRERE _F
Ft-A=T-"HLFERAZEHNT:

as follows
Movement during the period
Brgs
Outstanding at Outstanding at
Exercise price 1 January 31 December
Date of grant HK$ 2022 Granted Exercised* Cancelled Lapsed 2022
RZB==% R=B==%
e -A-H t=A=+-8
RHAH o WA BEH BT BH# BAM B
Category 1:
8o
Directors
E%
Zhuang Yuejin 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) -
HRE “E-ZERATRE
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000
“ECZERATER
Wong Ho Yin 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) -
R ZZ-ZERATRE
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000
ZEZZFRAT=R
Xiao Suni 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) -
BHiE ZZ-ZERATRE
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000
—Z--fARA1+=AH
Zhu Chunyan 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) -
RER “E-TERATRA
Total 3,184,000 5,010,000 (3,160,000) - (24,000) 5,010,000
&zt
Category 2:
A2
Employees 4 April 2019 2500 4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000
(3] ZZ-NFRAMA
15 May 2020 0.425 4,776,000 . (4,740,000) - (36,000) -
—“Z2-2FRATIA
12 May 2021 0.690 7,960,000 - - - - 7,960,000
“2--FRA+CA
13 May 2022 0433 - 11,690,000 - - - 11,690,000
CToCERATER
Total 17,536,000 11,690,000 (4,740,000) - (36,000) 24,450,000
@t
Total 20,720,000 16,700,000 (7,900,000) - (60,000) 29,460,000
it
* The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the *

dates on which the share options were exercised are HK$0.495.

FESEAHEEER QA

Exercise period

s

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022

FRATHAZE
“S--%7A+MA

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024

—Z-ZFRA+=HE
Z-MERATZH

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022

“Z-ZFRATRAZR
“Z--FRATEA

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022

“E-FERATRAE
—E--FRA+REA

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
“E-EFRATARE
“E--FRATNA

4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029

ZZ-NFRARBE
“E-NFEAZH

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
“Z-RFRATHRE
“E--ERATMA

12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023
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AUDITORS

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB") as the auditor of the Company on 7 January 2022, Elite
Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was appointed as the auditor
of the Company by the Board on the same day and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by Elite Partners whose
terms of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board confirmed that there was no disagreement between HLB
and the Company. Save as disclosed above, there were no other
changes in auditor of the Company during the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR E

elite
- parthers

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 44 to 143, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in a accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained in sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit consolidated

HRELSEE
REBERMNFERHE BREZSA/SRATER
AHENGEEMBRETREZNFR -RMAESE

financial statements of the current period. These matters were BGEAMEREXR (BEMS) LR ERERFE

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

BHEERE MAERLEETREERRER

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade receivables

Refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately RMB185,015,000 and provision
for impairment of approximately RMB43,919,000.

In general, the credit terms granted by the Group to the
customers ranged between 30 to 120 days. Management
performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of
the trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile
of different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status,
expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances, and on-going trading relationships with the
relevant customers. Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact the customers’ ability
to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate the
expected credit losses for the impairment assessment.

We focused on this area due to the impairment assessment
of trade receivables under the expected credit losses model
involved the use of significant management judgements and
estimates.

REEXREER
EWRE 5 7R Bz BERBEE G
E2HEE B MR E24 -

R-ZF-__#+-_A=+-0 BEEHNEKESR
THAEL A ANRE185,015,000c MR EREEHARE
43,919,0007T °
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Our procedures in relation to allowance for expected
credit assessment of trade receivables as at 31 December
2021 included:

o Understanding and evaluating the key procedures
that the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk;

o Checking the subsequent settlements of trade
receivables balance on a sample basis.

o Inquiring of management for the status of each
of the material trade receivables past due as at
year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence; and

o Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key date inputs on a sample basis to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
and auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
term of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exits. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risk, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing and
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
group to cease to continue as a going concern.

42 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

&%&Eﬁ?ﬁ%&%éﬁxﬁiﬁiﬁﬁk}%?ﬂ
BT

BB RROGAMBRRBEEES A FEH
Eéﬁk%’ﬁﬁiﬁa%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’léﬁﬁaE%F%LHM%/E.\E%{%
A HASREEMELNZBENRS - RAER
BHERBGRA BT (EREBE)HRE RIt
ZOBEREEMBEN - RA T ERARENAR
Fﬂfﬂﬁjﬁﬁﬁ}\té\tiﬁkﬁ*{iﬂﬁﬁo/\@%ﬁ%
BRFHRE ETRRBRZRELEENEE
E’U%Eﬂ"E%*ikﬁaéﬂ%LfE%#@ﬁE%ﬁfﬁ0%
ARER L AT LA KRR sk SR AR B - IR A R TR A T A
BEEYRAERARETERSMBRREME K
FE B TS 3R R PR B 0 OBR TE - BIA B B9 #8 AR R
ARAREER

ERBEEEAEAETEANBRED  HIER
THEEHE R TERRREEE RN

o BRIMFFAANMAFXERMEBERE M
i&%ﬁ&éﬁﬁa%&ﬁ%LH’]ﬂﬁﬁ Rt RHAT
%Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%@ﬁﬁ’DUSZ?%HX}EE&
@EE’U%‘E+?&%E’§*VE?%%1F?%?EE’U%E%°EE

RFARESRER BE E5ER ER
K%uu EERARES 2 £ Bt ReE#ER
BEFMBRMBBRFERRAMER SRR
ﬁ%é‘fii AR BB B RS AR ER A B R B o

THREERGEBOATES AREE R
ERF EEMYIY %%‘EIW*N il
MARMEERER -

s HAEEMERASHRERNE
FHEFHMAARE R EN S IEE -

BEUHRELS

s HESRAFKELLSHERMREEFL
ERm-REMERNEZERS BERSF
HEEREIEABEBEOEATHEEME M
AREYYE ERENFELEEIBKE
RER-MREMBAFEEATEEN
AIENEBERBMBRETRFEAEIES
EUBHRRTNEERE - REARNEKE

T AIRMEEERERMOER - KA
mmEERNHELBERE A L AREHE
B AWM RKRBRKBRATLEH &
SETRFELE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (Continued)
BYRBETRE (&)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SmeRmkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —EF-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

iog=3 AR®TR ARMET T

Revenue WA 9 184,036 181,701
Cost of sales RN (164,550) (157,662)
Gross profit E7 19,486 24,039
Other net (losses)/gain Hib (E518E) S FEE 10 (19,132) 7,318
Selling and distribution costs HE N D HEKA (7,656) (5,958)
Share of result of associates JEAG B & DRI B 297 330
Net allowance for expected credit losses BHEEEEREEE (27,228) (478)
Administrative expenses TR X (42,167) (23,567)
(Loss)/profit from operations ge (FE) 8RN 11 (76,400) 1,684
Finance costs B & B R 12 (2,070) (1,859)
Loss before tax Br B AT 5 18 (78,470) (175)
Income tax expense TSR 13 (88) (235)
Loss for the year attributable to ARAREEAELFERSSE

the owners of the Company (78,558) (410)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

REBEaRkHEMEEIKER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
P oECCFf A=+ —HIFE

=

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year, net of income tax:
Item that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation
from functional currency to
presentation currency

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total other comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Total comprehensive expense for

the year attributable to the owners
of the Company

Loss per share
Basic and diluted

FESEAHEEER QA

2022 2021
—E-CF —EF-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bz ARET T ARET T
FEBIE (78,558) (410)
FEHMEEmWE (BAX)
MR8 H%E:
rTEEFIEEZRAENER:
BENRERE2REE Y
&5 =%
5,771 (2,049)
HEWEF2EZEENEE:
BMEBINEE 2 EHR Z58
(1,105) (4,937)
FEHMEEmKE S (BX)RAHE
4,666 (6,986)
AARBEEANELEE
2HBEXHE
(73,892) (7,396)
RMB RMB
AR#E AR
BREE
AR #E 14 (45.56) cents 2 (0.29) cents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
=R O

As at 31 December 2022
R-ZFZ—F+=-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E == —EF-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

iog=3 AR®TR ARMET T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y B R 18 24,052 40,870
Investment property wEYE 19 4,133 -
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 20 8,978 6,706
Interests in associates REEE QR ER 22 10,801 13,840
Deferred tax assets BEREEE 35 3,826 3,905
51,790 65,321
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 23 23,158 30,593
Trade receivables FEWE 5% IE 24 141,096 152,077
Bills receivables R E & 3,473 3,921
Prepayments, deposits and FERRIE ke Rk
other receivables H th JiE SR IR 25 43,057 29,242
Financial assets at fair value through EATFERERIES
profit or loss EEEE 26 19,319 38,105
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITE R 27 25,324 24,583
255,427 278,521
Total assets EEMEE 307,217 343,842
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to the ZAATEBEABEELRFEE
owners of the Company
Share capital A& 2 28 3,643 3,476
Reserves {7 &5 29 118,023 186,232
Total equity EREE 121,666 189,708
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

mEMBRRE (F)

As at 31 December 2022
R-ZFZ—F+=-HA=+—H

LIABILITIES
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Contract liabilities
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and signed RIZ-ZT =

on its behalf by:

Zhuang Yuejin
HBE
Director

EF

=84
FRBEE
HE&E

REBEE

e & 5 3R

FEEH B R N Ho Al A R
BHEaRE

RITER

HE&E

JE B IR

BEAHE

EERAEAE

RBEEFE

HEERRBAR

BEEZRHE

Notes

Bz

34

30
31
32
33
34

2022 2021

—E == —EF-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARBTT
4,608 2,180
4,608 2,180
50,596 40,594
18,120 13,324
46,537 30,007
25,000 30,000
2,754 2,728
37,936 35,301
180,943 151,954
185,551 154,134
307,217 343,842
74,484 126,567
126,274 191,888
121,666 189,708

SIAETRERE:

Wong Ho Yin
EER
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-—FE-—Ff+ - HA=+—HIFF
Foreign
currency Share
Share Share Merger  translation option Statutory  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
SEBRE
R RAEE BbtfE R BRERS EERRE RER i $:3:4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note 29) (note 29) (note 29) (note 42) (note 29)
(Hi##29) (Wit29)  (Hi29)  (Hiat42)  (H#29)
At 1 January 2021 RZZE=-—-4%-f—H 1,984 304,721 5,992 36,889 3,868 11,818 (189,208) 176,064
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - (410) (410)
Exchange difference on translating functional currency BREMHEEVELRHEK 2
to presentation currency EXES - - - (2,049) - - - (2,049)
Exchange difference on translating BHENEBZERER
foreign operations - - - (4,937) - - - (4,937)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FELEMALLE - - - (6,986) - - (410) (7,396)
Share-based payment expenses LG E - - - - 2,218 - - 2,218
Issue of share upon placing REERETRE 1,492 17,330 - - - - - 18,822

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

3,476 322,051 5,992 29,903 6,086 11,818 (189,618) 189,708
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - (78,558) (78,558)
Exchange difference on translating functional currency BREWMEEBELREK 2
to presentation currency EXES - - - 5,771 - - - 5,771
Exchange difference on translating HEBNEBrERES
foreign operations - - - (1,105) - - - (1,105)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year FE2ENG/ (AX)@HE - - - 4,666 - - (78,558) (73,892)
Share-based payment expenses FR 171 3150 3% - - - - 3,008 - - 3,008
Exercise of share options TERERE 167 3,594 - - (919) - - 2,842
Lapse of share options B AR 2k - - - - v - 7 -
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB--F+-A=+-H 3,643 325,645 5,992 34,569 8,168 11,818 (268,169) 121,666

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
BEMMEIPT s AR Sima MR mMAKR LD -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= AN N —1
MEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEr - —FF+_A=+—HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Allowance for/(reversal of allowance)
expected credit losses on
trade receivables
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance
for expected credit losses on
other receivables
Provision for impairment on interests
in associates
Write-down of inventories
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation on investment property
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Realised loss/(gain) on disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of results of associates
Share-based payment expenses
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Operating cash flow before investments in
working capital changes

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease in bills receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Decrease/(increase) in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Increase in trade payables

Increase in accruals and other payables

Increase in contract liabilities

Net cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

RESENHEES A

RETHELENRERE

B 15 A & 18
FRATRIRELFHE
B & R
B KA
FEWE 5
IS 18 3

RENEREE
B/ (BEEm)

E@EW%EME%P‘
(BERRD) /HER
R &~ Rl RO R 25 R (B B i

7 & i 38
ME BERRETE
BREMERE
EREEERE
BAFERER
MAFEER ()
hEEBIRR
EEMNBEREE (KH)
FEIS 2 R R R
B0 1~ 5/ B 2

HEWE - BEMRERBE

HEELHEPAREN
RERTRE
TR ()
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U =R
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L/ (#hn)
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T N

KEFBIREFE
B ATEH

KE RS IR FEE

SRS REE

s A AR TR

2022 2021
—E—-= —T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
(78,470) (175)
2,070 1,859
(50) (32)
29,898 (2,355)
(2,670) 2,833
4,396 -

= 752

3,404 6,434
152 -
2,938 2,842
20,354 (2,612)
570 (3,594)
(297) (330)
3,008 2,218
9,986 167
(4,711) 8,007
7,435 (162)
(17,582) (21,111)
448 2,862
(11,007) (7,901)
416 (5,788)
9,985 14,792
4,693 1,917
16,530 9,897
6,207 2,513
(53) (441)
6,154 2,072
—E_C_FR
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERTRER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Proceeds from issue of shares upon placing
Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercising of share options
Repayment of bank borrowings
Repayment of interest on borrowings
Repayment of capital element of
lease liabilities
Repayment of interest on lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

RETHELENRERE

RE &S]

BEWE BENIERE
HEME  WERREBFHRA
REGZHMARSFR
METHELENRERE
RITEARAER

P & 05 31T IR0 AT 1S 3008

1TIE B A R Iy B 1T AR 4D P 1S 5RIR

EEBITER
%ﬁ%%ﬂ

MEED (FFA) FERLFHE
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2 108 48
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By 488
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2022 2021
—E-= - —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
50 32
(900) (3,117)

44 2
(806) (3,083)
45,000 30,000

= 18,822

2,842 -
(50,000) (40,000)
(1,500) (1,523)
(2,633) (2,578)
(570) (336)
(6,861) 4,385
(1,513) 3,374
24,583 26,820
2,254 (5,611)
25,324 24,583
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was a public limited company incorporated in
Cayman Islands on 9 December 2009 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law (2000 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its ultimate controlling party
is Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, who is also the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive
interior decoration parts and other parts, trading of rubber and
food products.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD"). However, the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi ("RMB”), as the directors of the
Company consider that RMB is the functional currency of
the primary economic environment in which most of the
Group’s transactions are denominated and settled in and
this presentation is more useful for its current and potential
investors. The consolidated of financial statements are
presented in thousands of Renminbi (“RMB’000"), unless
otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in

issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and its Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12
from a Single Transaction

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on or

after

1 January 2023

A date to be
determined

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

The Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term
that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA, and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-
based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, vales otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4.

56

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specially, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which qualifies
as business combination, except for those acquisitions which
qualify as a common control combination and are therefore
accounted for using the merger accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange and,
all acquisition-related costs are expensed. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Separate financial statements (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over these policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

The financial statements of associates used for equity
amounting purposes are prepared using uniform amounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Investment in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the requirements of HKAS 36 are
applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill, if any) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits or losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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4.

60

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sale of goods

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products and supply and procurement operation

Revenue from manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products and supply and procurement operation are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
at the point the products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due. The
normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon delivery. Payment is
advance is required for some contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both leasehold
land and non-lease building components, unless such allocation
cannot be made reliably.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premise that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the leases term.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

4.

FTESEHEE (&)

HE

HEHES
WEOMBBKERTE - BRAFARZES S
BANEERGNEN IZAHOREERE

ZHE-

HREREBBMR 2RI LHERTHER
ABHEENAL TAEEREFEUHBRSE
ERIF1RBTHER RRAKE EFTH
FWER (MER)FHENEERE—EME
EREBE—HEHE-RIFSOERRGEHE
BREBLEEZE DAUTSHLBALETE
M- ERATHNRES X EAKES
BEMHFEAVBERROZERAANE—
HEMRBAKRE  EFBUSBNEER
HEEEARR-

EEFHEBERMA
DI RNEE & #IA K A8 27

HREE-HEEEEKSES R -RNEAE
SMEERFEEART D 2A K AEER
BHEEERE Y 2 HE EBERKIFAREA
REBr 2 EBER(BRWBNERERZ
AR BREAEL I RFAEZTAKED
BOEERMAREEN T E)ANEEH0RK
ErRE=SEEEEKEY

A
AEEREHEHERRBAREANMAE
¥WBEE ZHENEHERGAMEFR
H+—@AKA T AT EEEEERE-
RHEAENEENFNEERNIRERESL
S—RERELERBMI

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities, other than adjustments
to lease liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the practical expedient.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term is depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review or expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
COVID-19-related rent concessions

In related to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due one or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the change applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or wavier of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised
in the profit or loss in the reporting period in which the event
occurs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the
property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as
an additional cost of that asset.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment, using the straight-line method, over their
estimated useful lives. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Building 30 years
Plant and machinery 12 years
Motor vehicles 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 6 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate amounted for on a
prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Transfer from owner-occupied property to
investment property carried at fair value

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Investment properties

Investment properties measured using the cost
model

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties measured using the cost
model (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of investment
property, using the straight-line method, over its estimated
useful life. The principal useful life is as follows:

Building 30 years

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. New realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in ordinary course of business less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment property and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units (the “CGU”) to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of the
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivable arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL") are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL"”) model on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, bill receivables, deposit and other receivables,
and cash and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financial component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credijt-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that

a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180 days past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risk and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings, trade payables,
accruals and other payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot
be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised
but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised
as a provision.

Foreign currencies
i.  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
companies now comprising the Group are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the company operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency
and the functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiary of the Group. The functional currency of the
Company is HKD. The directors consider that choosing
Renminbi as the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors.

ii. Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities are reported as part of their fair value gain
or loss.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

4.

FTESEEE (&)

HREE
IARBEERABESHMAEIIENEET,
ZEARARRETRERTAEE T T2
HMEFEERNARELT TR IR
BENTATEABEEMHIIZREEM IEMA
RABETFELEERRL HEESED
REAUSEMAEMAAEA AR BETER
MR MR A B TS R B R A B FR o M
BROR ) R BE 1 Bk i B AT B H IR B R
MR AZERERERR/BE-

o

i. WERZIEE
BREARETERZ QXA ZHBIRERA
EHEANDEARKREZ T EREERE
MER([ThEEEB A E-HRMK
BRUAREZY BRARBRZENE
BARAEE T RZRLEWMBRRZI
EER -ARAWNEEBRZETL &
ERR BREARBEREINEE IR
BUEARRRKEENFR -

ii. XZREE
SINERZURH B HRITERBER
D EB -RAENZER S RIEFR
EXRBENNINEFECEBEERE
BZERERBERGEERENIE
22 T W 8 3R RER

FERTREERABIREZRR
oA FERESEEARK-

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

iii.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the companies
now comprising the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

(c)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to owners’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group's net assets in HKD to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign
currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan
which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4.

86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees and others

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is recognised immediately to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or entity is preparing the financial statements of
the Group;

(2) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (2).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
nv_\ N ji%i&% M-J.AE\:L (IIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE—F——Ff A=+ —HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHHE(E)

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Allowance for expect credit losses of trade
and other receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement at amortised cost in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group'’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in note 6.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate, changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, investment property and right-of-
use assets are approximately RMB24,052,000, approximately
RMB4,133,000 and approximately RMB8,978,000 respectively,
no impairment losses were recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Details of the property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Provision of inventories

The Group makes provision for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Allowances are applied to inventories where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower
than the cost of inventories. The identification of slow-moving
stock and obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the
inventories.

Impairment of interests in associates

The management of the Group carries out review on
impairment on the interests in associates whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may
not be recoverable by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of the value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated.

In determining whether the interests in associates is impaired,
it requires an estimation of its recoverable amount, which
represents higher of the value in use and fair value less cost
of disposal (market value). For the value in use, it requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the operations of the investment and from the ultimate
disposal, and a discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
an associate is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss may arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the management
concluded that there was impairment loss on interests in an
associates of approximately RMB4,396,000 as the recoverable
amount of the interest in associates was lower than the
carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B BHKRME (&)

W

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets: cREE:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost

TREE

TERAME:
BN

Financial liabilities:
Amortised cost

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
fair value interest rate risks and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operations of the Group, no major
hedging activities are undertaken by management.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
6.

CE A=+ —HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

(i)

(ii)

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC”) and Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD") and
United States dollars (“USD"). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. The management do not
expect the net foreign currency risk from these
activities to be significant and hence, the Group and
the Company do not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks. The Group and the Company
periodically review liquid assets and liabilities held
in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the respective subsidiaries to evaluate its foreign
exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, the Group had minimal
exposure to foreign currency risk with respect
to HKD as it is the functional currencies of the
respective subsidiaries in which their business
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated.
Thus, no sensitivity analysis of HKD is presented.

At 31 December 2022, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) against RMB with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss
for the year and total equity would have been
approximately RMB499,000 (2021: RMB668,000)
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on USD-denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities.

RESENHEES A

6.

ERMIA(E)

(b) M BEAREREERKE (&)
GRS
SRR
i AZHNEER

(ii)

AEBETERTEARKME
(TPEDEBEEKLEER X
A TRSNEEERINER R -
TEREARKE (TARK]) A
(BT RET([ETE
B L o HMNEE LB SR B B AN B
BHRKBERS CHEREE
RBEARKREFHE - EEER
I H A8 A % RERINER
BOFER - Bt AEERARRR
By I 488 39 h SN L B o AN SR [
ARAREHREHMEARSEMN
DEEEM NI ER BB R
BERARE UFEEIMNERR
I #E A 0 BB E S E RSN
[

BRRE DT

RZEZZ=ZF+=ZA=+—8"
AREEEBETEENINERRE
WMo THEREBELASHERA
RINEEEE HEBZH BER
BEHUBITEE AL IRE
P TTH UK E 4T o

RZEBEZZF+_A=+—8"
WMETHAREAE ZES%
(ZE-_—F:5% )MAAAEHEM
BEESTE AASEENTFE
B8 R AR I N, A 4
AR ®499,000L (=T = —F:
AR #668,0000T)  HEBHR
NETHENEREERER A
ERINE W a5 BB T B

4
I
I
H
#

93



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERITA (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B¥EREEEEREE(£)

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued) mEEE (F)

Interest rate risk Tl % J&

() Exposure to interest rate risk (i)  AZFIEERE
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in REBEMEY TS EEGHE
market interest rate relates primarily to its interest- R FBHAEENF RBITE
bearing bank borrowings. Interest-bearing bank A EF R R BARIT
borrowings at floating rates expose the Group to & B 7 & (B T 0 ) 3R @ B o

interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to NG B 3 AR R R ) I R i B
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, SRR @R o AT BIEEEEER
the management monitors interest rate exposure EREbp TRV ERERHHE
and will consider hedging significant interest rate SR

exposure should the need arise.

(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) SWREREDT
At 31 December 2022, if interest rates at the date RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H"
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all WM& B 2 F*E AT EI100
other variables held constant, the Group's loss for B2 AT A H A S BT~
the year would increase/decrease by RMB250,000 AAEEZFEBEBE LA T
(2021: RMB300,000). This is mainly attributable to & ANE#250,000c (=& = —
the Group’s exposure as result of increase/decrease F: AR¥300,000L) JhEZE
in interest expense on bank borrowings net off with AR AT 18 TRz BB S H 4 8 2R
interest income from bank deposits. BRITEFARMNEWRAZ & 5EIE

/B E S 2 AR R R ATE

Other price risk H 1t B 1 /7 bz

() Exposure to other price risk ()  AZHMERER
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly AEBEFZFAAREMEER
through its investment. The Group currently HERRR AEEREITES
does not have a hedging policy in respect of the B 3 Bz S o NN S E
risk exposure. In addition, the management of EREGERERERENER
the Group would monitor the price risk and will EREELHPEEER-
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
based on the exposure to price risk of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the
end of the reporting period. If the prices of the
financial assets at FVTPL (listed securities) had
been 10% higher/lower, loss would decrease/
increase by approximately RMB1,932,000 (2021:
RMB2,336,000). If the prices of financial assets
at FVTPL (unlisted investment) had been 10%
higher/lower, loss would decrease/increase by
approximately RMB1,475,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The carrying amount of the bank balances, trade, bills
and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of lifetime ECL provision for all trade receivables. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group
has performed historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It also
considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
6.

CE A=+ —HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has certain exposure to credit risk as the
trade receivables from the five largest customers as at
31 December 2022 represented 80.8% (2021: 68.2%)
of total trade receivables, while 45.4% (2021: 34.4%)

6.

SMIA(E)
(b) MBEBREEERREEK (&)

1= B Jm B R 6l B P 14 (4F)

REEREEERR AEEEEED
EEEBABEREFERE FEMZK
NEADEE AR Fr - B AR IR BURE 15 18 A
WEEMERE LN REBRERE
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BEEE-REME ARAEZRRAE
SENEERRBRERBRE-

AEEHEAETEERR AR
T FFZA=t—HEKREAREF
MESRBEHEKE S RNEBEBEERN
80.8% (—ZT - —F:68.2% ) mME

WHERE-FEPHNEZRBEEEKE
SRIBHEBENASA% (Z T —F:
344%) - HE BB R IAEREES
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of the total trade receivables were due from the largest
single customer. It has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history.

0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2022 90 days 180 days  to 365 days 365 days Total
R-Z-—f+=-A=+-A 0Z90H K 91Z1808 181H Z365H 365A M £ @it
ECL rate BHEEEHEX 0.7% 0.9% 64.6% 100% 23.7%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REEE(ARETT) 58,200 80,308 10,423 36,084 185,015
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) 2HEHEEEE
(AEBTRT) (391) (710) (6,734) (36,084) (43,919)
57,809 79,598 3,689 - 141,096
0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2021 90 days 180 days to 365 days 365 days Total
RZZEZ—-%+ZR=+-H 0Z90A X 91ZE180H 181HZ365H 365 wEt
ECL rate BHEEEER 0.3% 2.1% 6.8% 44.6% 8.4%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EmEE(ARETT) 80,945 25,835 34,782 24,536 166,098
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) ZHEHEESR
(ANEETT) (200) (532) (2,358) (10,931) (14,021)
80,745 25,303 32,424 13,605 152,077
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
nv_\ N ji%i&% Bﬁ.? (IIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE—F——Ff A=+ —HIFFZ

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.
(b) Financial risk management objectives

SMIA(#E)
(b) MBEBREEERREEK (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, trade receivables that
are individually significant have been separately assessed
for impairment. The Group makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records and past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records,

EERBEREEFE ()
RZEZ_—_FRrR-_ZTE-_—F+=A
—t+t—H @EANEANEKRE S K
BEEBETREN G AEERER
FESREBE BALKELERBAKL
BOUARTERTHEER (ABEEE
Z BTBE B RL) 4 B UK IE /Y AT Uk (B 1
Y E BART A -

H b WA

HEMERZENS  ARAREFER
BEAERS BAKRULRBRAGE
EEMNAEEERNEEREEER

past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative S H fh FE U R IE /9 7] 4R S 1 1T E B
information that is reasonable and supportive forward- 18 51 5T 1k o
looking information.

The movement of loss allowances for other receivables FREMEWRIBERNEEREZS N
during the year are as follows: i

Other receivables

H b fE W FhE

RMB’000

ARET T

At 1 January 2021 WZEZ—5—H—H 1,201

Allowance for ECL TR EEEERR 2,833
At 31 December 2021 and RZEBE-Z—F+=-—A=+—HK

1 January 2022 —E-—F—A—H 4,034

Reversal of allowance for ECL FEHEEEBBREERER (2,670)

At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—_f+=-A=+-—H 1,364

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is toh - ERERA ARV ERNE
no significant increase in credit risk on these other HEBRBRE At EtERGRIEBENEE

receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default EfwEBEEEN Bt BHEEES
is low and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12m ECL. BIOERIEAFEHREEEIE T AR

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

CE A=+ —HIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are international and state-owned banks
with good reputation. Based on the loss rates, the ECL
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on
the contractual maturities of the undiscounted financial
liabilities including interest that will accrue to those
liabilities except where the Group are entitled and intends
to repay the liability before its maturity.

The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities {14 ¢HEAE

Trade payables BB SHE

Accruals and other payables FREGIEY d Fe
Bank borrowings HITfER

Lease liabilities HERE

At 31 December 2021

Non-derivative financial liabilities Jf74&BEE

Trade payables ERE S8

Accruals and other payables Bt EAREMEMNFE
Bank borrowings RITHER

Lease liabilities HERE

RESENHEES A

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
TS
ERA=

%

N/AFRE A
N/ATE A
4.82%
5.03%

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
g
BERA=E

%

N/A T8 B
NATEE
478
5.58

6. ERMIA (&)

(b) BIBEBREEEERRE (&)
nBELEE (&)
R=B=Z=F+=ZH=+—8H

Over

On demand 1year but Over 2 years Total Total
or within less than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount

EER —FH0E MEUL AERRE
PR-F BOIREE BLREE REEH REAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
50,596 - - 50,596 50,596
18,120 - - 18,120 18,120
25,521 - - 25,521 25,000
3,049 2,160 2,792 8,001 7,362
97,286 2,160 2,792 102,238 101,078

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H
Over

On demand 1 year but Over 2 years Total Total
or within less than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount

EERK —FLE L3 REBRRE
LR—F BLRRE BLIREF MELR RELE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
40,594 - - 40,594 40,594
13,324 - - 13,324 13,324
30,764 - - 30,764 30,000
2,881 1,570 732 5,183 4,908
87,563 1,570 732 89,865 88,826

—EBE-K%#

29



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(i) the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss) with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively;

(i) the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are calculated using quoted
prices. Where such prices are not available, a
discounted cash flow analysis is performed using
the applicable yield curve for the duration of the
instrument for non-optional derivatives;

(iii)  the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

1. Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
and financial institution for identical assets or
liabilities;

2. Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

3. Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market date (unobservable inputs).

100 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

(Continued)
At 31 December 2022

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

At 31 December 2021

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets

THEE

1) Financial assets at FVTPL

) BRFERNBSIENEREE

SRTA(EZ)
(c) ERMIEZAFE(£E)

REEMBHRREERZ A FHETE
(%)

R-ZB-Z-F+=ZA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
& B — FABl= WA= &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTR AR®BTR AR%®TR
cREE
RAFERBERIIRD
TREE 19,319 - - 19,319
R_ZT-_—F+-H=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bhl— 1] FRl= =
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETT
SREE
BRATFERERIRY
TRMEE 38,105 - - 38,105
Fair value
Fair value as at hierarchy Basis of fair value
RTSBENATE ATEER ATEEE
31/12/22 31/12/21 RMB'000
—E-CE —E-—F
t+t=ZA=+-8 +=A=+-8 ARETR
Listed equity Listed equity  Level 1 Quoted bid price in
securities securities an active market
RMB19,319,000 RMB23,355,000
L RAE S FHREES  REI— RERTSNRE
AE#19,319,000T AR ®23,355,0007C
Unlisted equity Unlisted equity  Level 1 Quoted price from
investments investments financial institution
Nil RMB 14,750,000
FETRARE FLmRARE  AAl— SRBENRE

Z AR #14,750,0007T

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities carried
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

FESEAHEEER QA

ARBEERR SRV BHRRALE
ERAENEREEREREBEDN
FEEEEE QA FERS-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

7.

Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares as well as the addition of
new borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as
follows:

Debt B
Total equity ey R
Gearing ratio EARBELE

102 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BERER-

EXAEF/ELER

RZE-_—_FR-_FE-_—F+-_A=+—H
MERBBLERNT:

2022 2021
—E—= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
32,362 34,908
121,666 189,708
26.6% 18.4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. 7HER
Information reported to the Directors being the chief operating MEZ(MEELEREE ([ETELERE
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource EFD)ERUSEERETHDBRIRHE
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on B EERAMNEEMAER -

the types of goods delivered.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows: AEENKERAZHmMD BT
() the manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related () HERHERRREANME R E A
products used in automotive interior decoration parts and SHESMEEER: X

other parts; and

(i) the supply and procurement operation segment including iy HEREBEEST (REEEBRRR
trading of rubber and food products. Bm) e
Segment revenue and results DEBAREE
Manufacture and sale of
Supply and nonwoven fabric related
procurement operation products Total
HERRBEY HEREERGANBER At
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F —E_CE —E-—F —E-CE —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR  AR¥®TT  AR®FTR AR%TR  ARETR  ARMTR

Segment revenue: AHRA:

Sales to external customers BEFHBER 13,184 17,171 170,852 164,530 184,036 181,701
Segment results PHEE (3.785) (1,474) (42,949) 124 (46,734) (1,350)
Unallocated corporate income FOBAFRA 1,792 7318
Unallocated corporate expenses AARDARY (31,458) (4,284)
Loss/(profit) from operations gesR/ O5fl) (76,400) 1,684
Finance costs BEMA (2,070) (1,859)
Loss before tax BEAESE (78,470) (175)
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated A E2HAHFUYATIR BN P BIUA ©
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for HE-_Z-_—_FR-_F-_—F+-_A=+—
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. HIEFE I &5 F A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
8.

CE A=+ —HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

8.

Segment results represent the profit/(loss) from each segment
without allocation of interest income, fair value gain/(loss) on
financial assets at FVTPL, share of results of associates and
central operating expenses including staff costs, finance costs
and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment

of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

ASSETS EE

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated corporate assets RABRFEE
Total assets EERE
LIABILITIES a8

Segment liabilities AHaE
Unallocated corporate liabilities RARARERE

Total liabilities AERE

Supply and
procurement operation

RERREEHR
2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRL  ARETRL
24,464 24,715
3,446 2,859
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THEEREE

Manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric related

products Total
HERHERGARBER &t

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —EC-CE —E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AREFR ARETTR ARETFT
254,127 260,776 278,591 285,491
28,626 58,351
307,217 343,842
145,823 118,102 149,269 120,961
36,282 33,173
185,551 154,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
nV_\ 7 ji%i&% BT-J-A?:L (/l' =L_)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. oMEH (&)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTHMEEREE (£F)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and RERSHRBEERDHBESEEIR

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segment other than - BlafemiEE (EERATERER
corporate financial assets including financial assets at JEMNESRMEE REEARINER K
FVTPL, interest in an associate and corporate cash and AABER|ITHER)IN - TEEED
bank balances. pal EGIER Sak:i

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other - BlofemaB(REEAERREM
than corporate financial liabilities including accruals and ERFREBE)IN FMBEEBEASEZTZ
other payables. oo

Other segment information Hitp HER

The following is the analysis of the Group’s other segment UTAREENEMDEBER D :

information:

Manufacture and sale of

Supply and nonwoven fabric related
procurement operation products Total
HERRBEY HEREERGANEER &t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—E-CE —E--F —EC-CE —E--F —EC-CE —E--F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETR

Amounts included in the FTARESBENS

measure of segment profitor ~ BRI PEEM

loss or segment assets RE
Capital expenditure ERRX - - 900 3,117 900 3,117
Depreciation of property, n¥ BELRRETE

plant and equipment - - 3,404 6,434 3,404 6,434
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  FAEEENE 231 356 2,707 2,486 2,938 2,842
Write-down of inventories FERA - - = 752 = 752
Allowance/(reversal of allowance)  FEWE 5 FAERH

for expected credit losses BHE QES B/

recognised on trade receivables, net  (BEEM)FE 1,641 1,008 28,257 (3.363) 29,898 (2,355)
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) £ 1 B U FIARERH)

for expected credit losses BHEEERRR/

recognised on other receivables, net (B EEM)FE - (1,201) (2,670) 4,034 (2,670) 2,833
Loss on disposal of property, HENE BE R

plant and equipment HREEE - - 9,986 167 9,986 167
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from major products and services

Information about the Group’s major products is set out in note
9.

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information
about its non-current assets by geographical location are
detailed below.

8. ZEMER (&)
REXTEEmRBRHHKA
BRAEEEBERMERBNHE -

i & & &
AEBHLEMBIARERES-

NTHAREBREIBEPHRARE
BRI DMIERBEENE R

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*
REIMBEEHIKA ERBEE*

2022 2021 2022 2021
—E—- —E-—F —E—- T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T ARBT ARETT
The PRC i 176,451 171,249 36,926 47,518
Hong Kong BB 7,585 10,452 237 58
184,036 181,701 37,163 47,576
* Non-current assets exclude interest in an associate and deferred tax * FRMBEETEERBE AR NS BT

assets.

Information about major customers

Details of the customers individually representing 10% or more
of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

Customer A BEFEA
Customer B ®FB
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group’s revenue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

9. REVENUE 9.

The Group's revenue represents sales of nonwoven fabric
related products used in automotive interior decoration parts
and other parts, rubber and food products.

An analysis of revenue by types of goods as follows:

Nonwoven fabric related products
for use in automotive interior decoration HEER:

— Sales of automotive floor carpets —ABEMHBAIEE

— Sales of other automotive parts —Hf ) TBER RIS

Supply and procurement operation: HERRBEK:

— Sales of rubber —RBHE

— Sales of food products —REmiHE

Total revenue recognised at a point in time RE—FERERN
WA 58

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less,
as permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

10. OTHER NET (LOSSES)/GAIN

A

AEBEBRAERRITEAMG REMEBY D
BHMEHEER BBERRBOHEE-

RERBHEDITHRALT

RRAERSFNEST

2022 2021
—E—-= —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AR T T
136,083 157,976
34,769 6,554
5,599 6,719
7,585 10,452
184,036 181,701

FAEBAGHNE R —FHIAT REEY
BHRELENENSRNEREEEMAF D
REREREHNNXZEALREE-

10. Hft (B518) KRB FE

2022 2021
—E-_F T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTTT
Interest income FLEMA 50 32
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets BRATERERIENEMERE
at FVTPL BATFE(BE) e (20,354) 2,612
Realised (loss)/gain on disposal of HEZAFENERIERN
financial asset at fair value through TREENDER
profit or loss (E8B) = (570) 3,594
Rental income HERA 1,701 -
Others H At 41 1,080
(19,132) 7,318
FESEAGEESR QA =E-=%F® 107



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

11. (LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 11. 8& (FB) &F
The Group’s (loss)/profit from operations is stated after AREEBNKE (BE) 27 ENk, (K
charging/(crediting) the following: ) THEIE:
2022 2021
—E-C—F T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARBTT
Auditors’ remuneration % ERAD B & 429 408
Depreciation of property, plant and M- -BERREBNE
equipment 3,404 6,434
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,938 2,842
Depreciation of investment property WEMENE 152 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases MEHERX 290 301
Staff costs including directors’ BINRA (BREEZEEHH)
remuneration:
— Salaries and allowances — & KOERL 13,250 16,404
— Share-based payment expenses — BRI RFAL 3,008 2,218
— Retirement benefits scheme — R RREAFH SR
contributions 1,665 2,191
Cost of inventories recognised ERAEEN AN TFEKAR
as cost of sales 164,550 157,662
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE WERLEBE
plant and equipment 9,986 167
Write-down of inventories 55 HMOR - 752
Allowance/(reversal of allowance) EWE ZRBENEHREER
for ECL on trade receivables EEEE (BERER) 29,898 (2,355)
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance HiERREBENEREE
for ECL on other receivables B (BERED) BE (2,670) 2,833

Provision for impairment on interests

N A NSOk R R

in associates 4,396 -
Research and development expenditure — #1%5 M FI % s2 i (ff77)
(note) 113 961

BE_Z_—_F#+_-_A=+—HLEFERA
RRHEEKANSHIRST (ZZE-_—F A
K #1,097,0007T) °

Note: The amounts included in cost of sales for the year ended Wit
31 December 2022 amounted to approximately nil (2021:
RMB1,097,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

nv_\ b2 7." i%i& % Bﬁ. A?:L (IIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE—F——Ff A=+ —HIFFZ
12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
wholly repayable within five years
Interest expenses on lease liabilities

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax
Hong Kong
PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT")

Deferred tax
Charged to profit or loss (note 35)

12.

AREFABBEED
RITEFWHEER
HEABENMEER

13.

BV H B 7R

B

hE B EMREHR
(TREMREHI)

IEIEB IR
st A& (#iE35)

7l & B 2

2022 2021
eS8 —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARET T
1,500 1,523
570 336
2,070 1,859

EBEX
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
10 157
10 157
78 78
88 235

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%), and assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%). Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profit and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit above HK$2 million.

RESENHEES A

RERSHEREBEBRES ([RELA
RESDRIINER AEERRASEHE R
REGBAREEBABMEAMEN -

BEEASNEHEOMBAEHUTEHE &
EREEERB E2EEB L ZERT ZF
15 128.25% < B R MBI IE ME @28 &
BT FERBUEF#51216.5% 2 T R EME
B ARFEMAFNEHBEERGEER 2EHE
ERZaMBEERI65% (T - —4:
16.5% ) ZH— B EHMBIE - EHit - & &S
SEEREE2E BTG ERBUE R Z
8.25% AT EHABNEH - HBiB2B & BT
TR R M6 5% A EEBFER -

I
4
I
I
H
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong is recognised as there
is no assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil).

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates based on estimated
taxable income earned by the PRC subsidiary of the Group
with certain tax preference, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practice in respect thereof.

Pursuant to EIT rules and regulations of the PRC, the applicable

PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is 25%.

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the loss

13. REHMAX (&)

HRBE-ZE-_—F+-A=+—-HILFE
WEEBRVEN (ZF_—F:F) RALE
ERHEN TN

RECEMSHRRBERTEN 2B REA

BIEG BT AE T BIOAERN A EE YT
A 23 ) BT BRER £ 5 e 3R B MR A b R
GELIE S

BIBEFBECEMESHANRER BEZS
T CER-ZE-—F+-_RA=+—HIEE"
AEEMFENEARNERTECENS
BER25% °

Fﬁ?%i)fﬁfiﬁaiﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁfgﬂéiuqﬂ BEME

before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is as follows: PP R EMEHEERENT:
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBF T
Loss before tax B AT A 18 (78,470) (175)
Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate R B D ERFEHRTTE25%
of 25% (2021: 25%) HE(ZZEZZ—5F:25%) (19,618) (43)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BEINBMASZIOREZE
for tax purpose 15,547 2,205
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEBENNBETE 2,112 518
Utilisation of tax losses previously PABERERNIEEE
not recognised (621) -
Tax effect of share of results of associate EIHEEE RN AIF¥ENH KT E (49) (54)
Tax effect of income that are not taxable 378 =R Bt Ug A B9 B 75 52 22 (10) (1,392)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M /& A &)~ R & #) 52 £ 2,727 (999)
Income tax expense FriSfi = 88 235

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been provided for
in respect of the temporary differences attributable to profits
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
RMB38,906,000 (2021: RMB98,687,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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R-ZE-_—F#+-_A=+—8 ARFIL
AP BEMNE AR BBRAZEENOA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

P E A=+ —HIFE
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREER
Basic loss per share BREXEE

15

The calculation of basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB78,558,000 (2021: approximately
RMB410,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 172,431,268 (2021: 143,261,786) in issue during the
year.

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 December 2022, diluted loss per share is
the same as the basic loss per share because the effects of the
Company'’s outstanding share options were anti-dilutive.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, diluted loss per share is
the same as the basic loss per share because the effects of the
Company'’s outstanding share options were anti-dilutive.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Pursuant to the Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordnance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

15.

BRETEBESENIRBERLTEE AERMNG
FEEBHARETS8,558,000T (ZF=—
FHARMA10,0007T) R FARE ETER
Bz hniE F¥920172,431,2680% (=T = —
F:143,261,786R ) 5T EB H -

BREBEER
BE-_Z_-_—_F#+_-_A=+—HILEFE"
R sEEEEgREANBERR  2ARAK
NRVE B ARTTE R A R UE -

BE_T_—F+-_A=T—HLLFE"
BREEERASREXBRER 2HRXA
X BB 1 AR AT {50 O PR L SR B R
ES BERTTBRABRERHM

RIEEFEBRMEHFEIBMIEL AR (FE
BEEFZER) ROIFE280T

Salaries and Retirement benefit Share-based
Director fees allowances scheme contributions payment expenses Total
EsHe FeRmi BARBATHER URBAEBHHR At
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—B-C-f -—T--% ZB--E -T--% ZB--E -T--F CZB--E -T--& CZB-Zf -I--%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARMTR ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARMTR ARET:
Name of director Espg
Executive director HITEE
Zhuang Yuejin (note () B (H1iF(a) 184 232 - - - - 348 - 532 232
Wong Ho Yin (note (b)) BER(MH D) - - 1,585 1,394 15 16 348 - 1,948 1,410
Xiao Suni HER 103 100 - - - - 348 - 451 100
Independent non-executive BV H#HTEE
director
Mak Wai Ho RER 103 100 - - - - - - 103 100
Ng Li La Adeline KA 82 80 - - - - - - 82 80
Zhu Chun Yan KER 82 80 - - - - - - 82 80
554 592 1,585 1,39 15 16 1,044 = 3,198 2,002
Notes: Wi
(a) Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of (a) HBELENARARABNEFRITHES -
the Company.
(b)  Mr. Wong Ho Yin is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. (b) EEALEENMREARAINYBHEE-

RESENHEES A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR (A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

15.

16.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and chief
executive as a discretionary bonus or an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a Director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

The executive director’s emolument shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive director’s emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

No transactions agreement and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party an in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

The emoluments of senior management (excluding directors)
fell within the following band:

Nil to HKD 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included 3 (2021: 2) director(s), details of whose remuneration
set out in note 15 above. The emoluments of the remaining 2
(2021: 3) individuals are set out below:

Basic salaries and allowances HA S & KRR
Share-based payment expenses B& 9 18 SR 2

Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {K#& M 51 2 it 7%
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15.

16.

EX - EeTRAEBREESFMH
(%)

HE - —F+_-_A=+—
ALEFE AEERERAEERERITERA
BXMMEERBBIEA RS A A
AEESNREIIELABBBEE REZZ
T FRZF—FF+ZRAR=T—HLHF
E HMEEEHEXRENETANHeN R
e

EXFRRATESHFMAREREARR R RA
SEEBORBME -

EXARBIFATEETHE RREREETA
NREEEN#HE -

ARBHARBERNMERRGEIT LB
AEEEE REEIXFAETAEHFED
e HEAAH MEEFREPEEZXE
BEHEAEAER-

SREEE(TEREZ)NMENFUT
HER

Number of individuals

AE
2022 2021
—E- —E-—%F
2 3
IER=EMEES

FEBRAFEANLLESFHALTEE=
F(ZE-—F WMB)EE W FBERT
REXKHFIS - BTRERSHEMAL (=
T —F=R)NHFMEIAT

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
399 473

27 25

426 498
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 16. hEBREMEES (&)
(Continued)
The number of the senior management (excluding directors) of AEBESRERBE(IMBRRBESR)Z AEN
the Group are within the following band: FATEHERA :

Number of individuals

N
2022 2021
—s=-= T —fF
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 = %1,000,000/& 7T 2 3
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no HE-_Z-_—_FRrR-_Z-_—F+=-_F=+—
remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-executive AEFERN AEEMERIENTES &
director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or SHMEETIME  EAINAZREES N
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. AXREEENRE IEAMBEE-EHZE
None of the non-executive director and highest paid employees TECCFR-E-_—F+A=+—HI
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years FEAN BEFNTEETREIMEEEN
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. ENRENEEAME -
17. DIVIDEND 17. B2
The directors do not recommend the payments of any dividend EETERREE S+ A=+—
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil). AEFERNEANERE(ZEZ—F:F) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W¥ BMERRXE
Furniture
Plant and Motor and Leasehold
Buildings ~ machinery vehicles fixtures improvements Total
BF HEREH "E  BEREE HENREE B

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE AREFTT ARBTR ARETR ARETR AR%T:

Cost BA
At 1 January 2021 W_E-_—-F—-F—H 10,067 85,621 4,308 2,385 2,870 105,251
Additions AE - 1,724 618 133 642 3,117
Disposals HE - (293) (152) - - (445)
Exchange alignment ERAE - - (23) (7) (43) (73)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZZ—%
1 January 2022 TZA=Z+-Hk
“T--%—-F-H 10,067 87,052 4,751 2,51 3,469 107,850
Additions RE - 861 - 39 - 900
Disposals & (435) (42,263) - (331) - (43,029)
Transfer to investment properties ERERENE
(note 19) (Hiz#19) (9,632) - - - - (9,632)
Exchange alignment RS - - 60 21 55 136
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—-F
+=ZA=1+-H - 45,650 4,811 2,240 3,524 56,225
Accumulated depreciation RIHE
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—fA—H 4,972 48,740 3,179 1,690 2,288 60,869
Charge for the year FEXH 305 5,351 438 253 87 6,434
Disposals HE - (124) (152) - - (276)
Exchange alignment XA - - (5) (7) (35) (47)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZZ—%
1 January 2022 TZA=+-BR
“T-"%#-F-H 5,277 53,967 3,460 1,936 2,340 66,980
Charge for the year FEM 152 2,710 251 180 m 3,404
Disposals H& (82) (32,631) - (286) - (32,999)
Transfer to investment properties BRERENE
(note 19) (Hizt19) (5,347) - - - - (5347)
Exchange alignment EHEE - - 59 21 55 135
At 31 December 2022 RN-B-=%
+ZA=1+-H - 24,046 3,770 1,851 2,506 32,173
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2022 RZB==#
+=ZA=+-H - 21,604 1,041 389 1,018 24,052
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE——
+=-A=+-8 4,790 33,085 1,291 575 1,129 40,870
At 31 December 2022, the Group's investment property RZFEZZF+ZA=+—H8 AEEEA
(2021: buildings) with a carrying amount of approximately BEHABARBL133,000L (Z T =—4F: A
RMB4,133,000 (2021: approximately RMB4,790,000) was E#4,790,0007T) IR EME (ZTZ—F:
pledged as security to banks for bank borrowings. EF)EERTRITEANESRITERZE
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R (AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

18.

19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment

At the end of each reporting period, the directors of the
Company have performed impairment assessment in respect
of the manufacturing and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products, the recoverable amounts of which have been
determined based on value in use using cashflow projection
approved by the directors of the Company covering a five years
period. The pre-tax discount rates applied in measuring the
amounts of value in use is 8%. The carrying amount of then
relevant assets does not excess the recoverable amounts based
on value in use, and there was no impairment considered
necessary of provide in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group leased
out a self-owned factory under an operating lease with rentals
payable monthly. The lease typically run for an initial period of
5 years.

Since the factory was leased out during the year, the carrying
amount of the factory classified as buildings included in
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB4,285,000
was transferred to investment property during the year ended
31 December 2022 and subsequently measured under cost
model.

18.

19.

ME BERRE (F)

DR
REBREHR AR EECHEHMAEH
EmBENEEETREN G Erf iR &
HIOFERARRESAERE R FHEN
RemeEBARBEEHREEET FE2FEA
EBESEMERANRATIEER 58% - HEE
ENREEENFREERBBIRESEE -
BHE-ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HBLtFE"
BRI ER R AEBREA P IEHRE A ME L&
B(ZE—F :TFx) -

REWE
HE-_Z_-_—_F+_-_A=+—HIFE &
SEEKERELRE—HBeEaERE HeR
BRI -BE— R BESF-

HRZBERFARALME 2T -_—_F
T+ AZ+—BULEFE DEAEFIA
ME-BELIENBREEAEHNARE
4,285,000 R 2R EWE R EEZKAK
BErE -

Investment
property
REYE
RMB'000
ARETT
Cost 2%
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 R—ZFE-_—F—AF—RB - ZZE=-_—%
and 1 January 2022 +—A=+—BER=-ZT-_—4—HF—H -
Transfer from property, plant ERamE WERXE (Hit18)
and equipment (note 18) 9,632
At 31 December 2022 RZE__F+ZA=+—H 9,632
Accumulated depreciation 2t E
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F—F—H ZF=_—%F
and 1 January 2022 +ZA=+—RARZFEZ=_F—H—H -
Transfer from property, plant EXamE WMERRE (Hit18)
and equipment (note 18) 5,347
Charge for the year FEXH 152
At 31 December 2022 R-EZ—_F+-_HA=+—H 5,499
Net book value REEE
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—F+=-A=+—H 4,133

At 31 December 2021

RESENHEES A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20. FHREEE
Leasehold Leased
land Properties Total
HE it HEWE &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARBETT

Cost 2%
At 1 January 2021 R-E-_—F—HA—H 2,552 9,695 12,247
Additions wNE - 1,004 1,004
Exchange alignment BE 5 B - (51) (51)
At 31 December 2021 and KRB —F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HK
—E-—_%—HF—H 2,552 10,648 13,200
Additions NE - 5,195 5,195
Exchange alignment IE 3 G B - 88 88
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F
+=A=+-~H 2,552 15,931 18,483
Accumulated depreciation RItIE
At 1 January 2021 RZTE——F—H—H 146 3,550 3,696
Charge for the year FRZH 73 2,769 2,842
Exchange alignment PE 3 58 & - (44) (44)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-—F+— A
1 January 2022 =t—BR-_ZT_—
—H—H 219 6,275 6,494
Charge for the year FINZH 73 2,865 2,938
Exchange alignment I - 73 73
At 31 December 2022 R-—E-Z
+=—A=+—H 292 9,213 9,505
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2022 R-E—-—
+=-A=+-A8 2,260 6,718 8,978
At 31 December 2021 RZTZ—F
+ZRB=+-—H 2,333 4,373 6,706
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Expenses relating to short-term leases REHER
Total cash outflow for leases (note) HERSRLEE (M)
Addition to right-of-use assets EAREERE

Note: Amount includes payments of principal of RMB2,633,000 (2021:
RMB2,578,000) and interest portion of RMB570,000 (2021:
RMB336,000) of lease liabilities and lease terms ends within 12
months of RMB290,000 (2021: RMB301,000).

Lease liabilities of RMB7,362,000 (2021: RMB4,908,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB6,718,000
(2021: RMB4,373,000) as at 31 December 2022. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's leasehold land with a
carrying amount of approximately RMB2,260,000 (2021:
approximately RMB2,333,000) was pledged as security to banks
for bank borrowings.

RESENHEES A

20. EFAEEE (&)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TF T AREBTTT
290 301

3,493 3,215
5,195 1,004

Mat: Z2cBEEIXNHAEEENEARAE AR
2,633,0007T (=% = — 4 : AR#¥2,578,000
JT) KR EE D ARBES570,000T (=2 =—4F:
AR #336,0007T) - FEAR 1218 A REIE A A
R #290,0005t (—ZT = —4F: AR¥301,000
JT) e

R-_E-_—_F+_A=+—H HEEE
ARMT7,362,000L (ZE=Z—F: ARK
4,908,000 )t MEHBAE AEEE ARK
6,882,0007T (— & — — 4 : A R#4,373,000
TR - BREBEARBENHEEENERE
mIN HERETEENEANRZ - HEER
ETA BIEBRER-

R-BE-_—F#+-_A=+—0 XAX£EEA
BB AR2,260,000C (ZFE-—F:4
AR#2,333,00070) I & Tt B TR
TEAMBRITER ZIERA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 21. B A AN FAER
Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December RZE-_—FR-_ZTE-_—F+-_A=+—8"

2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Nominal value

ARBIMBEBARZHBLT

of issued
and fully
paid ordinary
Place of shares/lIssued
incorporation/ and paid up/ Proportion of ownership
registration registered interest and voting power
Name of Company and operation capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERTRARE
BRZ
EE/BRITR
HMRIL/ B/ KRARFEMERER
ARER BREREERHY HMEE RERLH TEEH
2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect
EE M EE fi&
Joystar (BVI) Automotive Interior British Virgin UsD1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Decoration Limited Islands ("BVI")
ERERRES 1%7T REER
(IEBREARES])
Joystar (BVI) Auto Inter-parts Limited ~ BVI UsD1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
EREBRER (E REZRR
Joystar International Investment Hong Kong HK$1,170,177 - 100% - 100% Trading of nonwoven fabric
Limited related products used
in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts
REEBRREFRAA B 1,170,177 BERARAENH I REM
BAMESTIEBER
Joystar China Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100% Trading of rubber
RERERERRAR B BT BEERE
Joystar Wuxi (note (1)) PRC usb7,477,172 - 100% - 100% Manufacturing of nonwoven
fabric related products
used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts
RE (BH) (W) HE 7477,172% T HERNAERSHTRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 21. B RMNFEMAER (&)
(Continued)
Nominal value
of issued
and fully
paid ordinary
Place of shares/Issued
incorporation/ and paid up/ Proportion of ownership
registration registered interest and voting power
Name of Company and operation capital held by the Company Principal activities
BRTRARE
BR2
EE/BRTR
TR/ #r/ ENBRBHEER
NAER BREREELE ARER REELS TEXH
2022 2021
- e -3 —E-—F

Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect

ER  BE BR HE

Link Excellent Limited BVI UsD50,000 100% - 100% - Investment holding
KEERRANS 50,0003 7T RARRK

Link Sharp International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of food products
B 10,0007 7T BERM

Sinogate Energy Limited BVI UsD1 - 100% - 100% Investment holding

R ERER AR KEERRANS E RARRK

Splendid Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100% Trading of rubber

PRERDA BiE Iy BERR

BmE S (L8)BR AR (mote ())  PRC USD600,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of rubber

PRES (LB)BRDA (M) HE 600,000% T BERE

Loyal Brands International Limited BVI Usb50,000 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ERERRES 50,000% 7 REER

Giant Faith Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of food products
BE 10,0007 7 BEERM

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the RERKFAEMERBEMNBEARNES T

end of the year or at any time during the year. AR RITENEEES

Note: B st -

(i) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law. (i) BEPBEEEEIMA I RINEBERE-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the FRENEZRAUAEENEENEERE

opinion of directors, principally attached the results or assets KRERNFENAEENB AR - EEZRAIM

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in to HIEE A B AR IEE L ERBRILE

opinion of directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B BHKRME (&)

W

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
22.

CE A=+ —HIFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Cost of investment in associates
— Unlisted

Share of post-acquisition loss and
other comprehensive income,
net of dividends received
— Unlisted

Impairment loss

During the year under review, an impairment loss on interests

in associates of approximately RMB4,396,000 (2021:

recognised in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on the basis of decline in
the recoverable amount which was below the carrying amount
and adverse changes in the market in which the associates

operated.

22. ARBE DT ESR
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETIT
REZ QA HIRERKA
—3EET 26,549 24,450
R U BE R B8
T E A2 E UL A
(EHMBREWERE)
—JET (4,205) (4,155)
A B (11,543) (6,455)
10,801 13,840
REBFER AR IRE S N RKEERD
nil) was HEEEENRBERRKLED SN TF
it RAEENGAEGEREME2EKE
RPHERIARBELARNES 2 REBEYA

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had interest in the

following associates:

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
MK ERE
REEWE

Name of Company

AREE

Prominent Alliance Limited BVI

REGRARES

GEO Securities Limited Hong Kong

N

Issued and
paid up capital

BORBRRE

usD100,000
100,000 7T

HKD96,698,421
96,698,421/ T

120 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

R #4,396,000C (ZZE=—F:

i

z) -

K%IECT@J%%E@ Tﬁﬁﬁﬁém:

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power

held by the Group

Principal activity

rEEFBRERER
SRELH TEXEH
2022 2021
—E--F —T-—F
42% 42% Investment holding
REERK
42% 42% Dealing and advising on securities

EHRH R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
nV_\ 7 ji%iﬁ% MTA?:L (/n =L_)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEr - —FF+_A=+—HIFFE
22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the associates

22. REFE DB RER (&)
T8I AT S EEREE -

are set out below.

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBF T
Current assets BN EE 24,442 40,589
Non-current assets EMENEE 35,100 30,841
Current liabilities nRBEE (27,992) (43,045)
Non-current liabilities ERBBEE = -
2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTT
Revenue A 3,397 6,192
Profit for the year FEEHEMN 708 787
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHEMEZEEE - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEHEEBES 708 787
Group's share of results of associates REBEEBEATER 297 330

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised
in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

LA HERR R EGE M BRI AERR
i NRIMERREEMHRDT

2022 2021

—EB-= —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREBTT

Net assets of the associate B AR EEFE 31,550 28,385

Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBEREEE QA

interest in the associate Ffr 75 # Lt 15 42% 42%

13,251 11,921

Goodwill S 9,093 8,374

Impairment loss BB EE (11,543) (6,455)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7% 5 B FA B 4 2 B A9 1 55

in the associate BREE 10,801 13,840
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
22.

CE A=+ —HIFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particular of impairment testing on interest in an associate are
disclosed below:

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following cash — generating units operated by an associate:

- Provision of dealing and advising on securities business

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
recoverable amount of this cash-generating units has been
determined based on a value in use calculation which uses
cash flow projection based on financial budgets approved
by the directors and valued by the professional independent
valuer covering a five year period, and pre-tax discount rate of
15.9% (2021: 8.8%) per annum. cash flows beyond that five-
year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2021:
2.5%) growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are
as follows:

N\,

BEQTNES (#F)
A 2 s R E AR S R T

FEEHBRENR D EEEHE QR L2
THREELEM:

- RUBSEELRERED

= —— TR —FF+ZRA=+—
BIEFE ZBReELENNTTKREEE D
BEFEREEFELET &8 EARAE
REESHATKEEB L EHEMGEER
IFHMEEENESREREN TIREF
15.9% (Z T = —F:8.8% )T AT T 38 X
AESY - BARAFEHEZRERENER
BEBRER25% (2T -—F:25% ) #H-
P ERNBATE EzRBFHBER-

EREEFEEMAZAREBRERNT

Budgeted market ~ Average market share in the period BEE MG ZEEE AR T
shares immediately before the budget period. HEX mighAE - BEFA
The values assigned to assumption ZEERMBELR
reflect past experience
Budgeted gross Average gross margins achieved in BEEFE EEEEMNAARER 2
margin the period immediately before the FHEME  RBAET
budget period which reflects the past A
experience
23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBT T
Raw materials R AT H 10,295 13,500
Work in progress TR 734 996
Finished goods LB 12,129 16,097
23,158 30,593

During the year, write-down of raw material of nil (2021:
approximately RMB752,000) has been recognised and included
in the cost of sales in the current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2022

B2 —F - —F+-_A=+—HIFE
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWWE 5 R\
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
Trade receivables EUE 5 IE 185,015 166,098
Less: allowance for ECL A, TE BB (43,919) (14,021)
141,096 152,077

REZZEH BRESHAENREDNT (K
BERMEERERE) T

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, net of allowance for ECL, is as follows:

2022 2021
—_E- —_F——

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBTTT

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 57,808 80,745

91 to 180 days 91£180H 79,598 25,303

181 to 365 days 181%365H 3,690 32,424

Over 365 days HBiE365H - 13,605

141,096 152,077

FEBRTEFPFNESHRARTIEREE -RE
EFEERAAKSENRARE FEH—
MR FI0E120R - REER S BEEERN
ZERWFB - BMARN 2 EHRARREEE
THEH - BREZRERRLE -

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally ranging from 30 days to 120
days, depending on the creditworthiness of customers and
the existing relationship with the Group. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

RESENHEES A

4
I
I
H
#

123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group's trade receivables were denominated in RMB and
USD of approximately RMB141,096,000 and nil (2021:
RMB 146,804,000 and RMB5,273,000) respectively.

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out
in HKFRS 9 for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is
as follows:

24. BWE S RHE (&)

R —_F+_A=+—H XEENE
WESHBEzEEBEIAARE RETH
B »B# A ANRB141,096,000 T (=
T - — 4 AR¥146,804,0007T & AR
5,273,0007C) °

HE-_T-_—GR-_FT-—F+-_A=+—
AIEFE AEBEEREES B RE LR
FOFATH B EREWRE S HNIEER
BHIEEFBEEZEHNT

Total

F

RMB'000

ARET T

At 1 January 2021 RZE=——F—HA—H 16,376

Reversal of allowance for ECL FEHEERBBEREHERR (2,355)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZEZ—F+-A=+—HEK

—E-—_%—HF—H 14,021

Allowance for ECL TEHEERERE 29,898

At 31 December 2022 RZTZZF+=ZA=+—H 43,919

The loss allowances and reversal of loss allowance for trade HEe_ T -_—"F+-_A=Z+—HILFE &

25.

124

receivables during the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 are approximately RMB29,898,000 and RMB2,355,000
respectively. Movement in allowance for ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under ECL model of HKFRS 9
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 was detailed
in note 6.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Trade deposits BEo5%e
Prepayments TEfF IR
Other receivables H o fE 5k E

Details of assessment of ECL are set out in note 6.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

WE SHEBENEERERBEEBERRD S 5
%45 AR #29,898,0007T K A R#2,355,000
T-BHBE_T_—_FR-_FT-_—F1=
A=Z+—HBEFEEAKSEEREEEVER
HEEAFERTFHEEREEARERE S
NEEREHEEBERELHNFBIHIRN
MI5E6 ©

25. ERRE e R EMEWREIE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETT
30,710 15,141
4,999 6,634
7,348 7,467
43,057 29,242

BHEEE RN GFBEHNHEG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. 1%
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

N,

AFERBERIIRNEHEE

2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Listed securities: thEH:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong BB LR RAE 5 19,319 23,355
Unlisted investment: FLEHRE:
Unlisted investment in Hong Kong EEBNIFELTRE - 14,750
19,319 38,105
Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market bid NREENZEMBETESEABRSRBEE
prices and quoted price from financial institution. HwEMEE -
27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 27. RERVITHER
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, MmeHRenERmMs RekBE2FEY
cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks, BEFER: RITER MR REERT
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents BEX o kralenERMTIMERRNRS
at the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated RIS SEYEES M BEINR R AR AERE
statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items BEYERWOT:
in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTTT
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHE % 25,324 24,583
2022 2021
—E-HF —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T T
Renminbi AR 12,485 8,787
Hong Kong dollars BT 4,016 7,690
United States dollars v 8,823 8,106
25,324 24,583
FESERNGRESRQA =EZ--F® 125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

mEMBmERMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB12,485,000 (2021: RMB8,787,000) were kept in banks
in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rate.

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each ERHEE0.025BTHEER
At 1 January 2021, R-BE--%-A-H"
31 December 2021, “2--%+ZA=t+-8"
1 January 2022 and “E2--f-A-HR

31 December 2022 “E--f+=ZHA=+-H
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE:

At 1 January 2021 RZZ=Z—%—HF—H

Issue of shares upon placing (note (1) REE&REITRM (H50))

RZZE-_—F+-A=+-HRK
—T--%—R—H
TEERE

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Exercise of share options

At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+ZA=+-H

Note:

(i) On 3 May 2021, the Company placed 71,663,616 new shares at a

price of HK$0.32 per placing share.

126 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

27. B RIBITHESR (£E)
RZE_—_F+_A=+—H AEENUA
REFELFHRAFBIREANERIT ZRITEAR
LB ANRE12,485,000C (Z - —4F A
R #8,787,0007T) - AR ¥ KR INEE BB
THBEIINEETE G REE SERMEE
BT -

FRRBITZRASBRERBITERBNEZ
EE I ERENHE

28. A&
Number of shares Amount Amount
RHOEE &8 &8
HK$'000 RMB'000
FET AREFT
40,000,000,000 1,000,000 863,495
95,551,488 2,389 1,984
71,663,616 1,791 1,492
167,215,104 4,180 3,476
7,900,000 198 167
175,115,104 4,378 3,643

Hiat -

(i) R-ZZE-_—FRA=-H ARAERERESR
50.328 ST BB ECE571,663,6 16825 I8 7 °

—
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

29. RESERVES 29. f#1#&

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Notes:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a price
in excess of their par value per share and after deduction of capitalisation
issue and issuance costs of placing of shares.

Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus of the Company represented the difference between
the net assets value of the subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the
share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to the
reorganisation during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Group
reorganisation implemented in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares in 2010 and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired under the
reorganisation scheme, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall appropriate 10% of
its annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior year’s losses) to the
statutory reserve fund account in accordance with the PRC Company Law.
When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s share
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve fund can
be utilised to offset prior year's losses or to increase capital after proper
approval.

RESENHEES A

FEBRAFERBEFENRERES S
HEGARBREHRET -

Bat -

% 42 % B

REMEHERFE ARABRMEERANES A
HEARTFARRBR  EZERZIRNTREAHE A
REBDAENIRAEEBBRTEEDNHANES-

i EEmEaknshmE s ERETROER
MBRBEAME BT REERNDBETRARELNEE -

BB

ARBZHABRIERMREZNBRAREEFEER
BRE_Z-—ZTF+ A=+ -HLEFESEARESF
EOTRMBZ ARBRAEEBEZ Z/E -

aOt B
FEEZANBRBEEEN S —ZSFEHLLIARN
EHmAAETNER ERESAGFEKRENHEL
FRARENEEESRARRIRUEITIAER RS
RAEERZER -

IERERE
INEBRERERERE SN EBYM B RERMmE LN
BIMEZRE - ZREBHREE M B WK AT
BRI R IE -

EERE

RBFBEDRE ARER P ERILHEARAR
HEZETEHMN(FHRBEFEBRER)H10% &
AEERBLERP MEZHBBECEBREZERREA
250% AR EREREEME - IR RNERSEE
R ZEHEBES AU BEREAEFEBRIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. BN E S MR
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice BEBEEZAH ENESFENERE ST
dates, is as follows: N

2022 2021
—E-C—F T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBTTT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 24,486 22,859
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 7,769 2,277
181 to 365 days 1812365H 1,412 678
Over 365 days HBiE365H 16,929 14,780
50,596 40,594

Trade payables generally have credit terms ranging from 10 ENEZHEBEEHR RN F10E60H -

days to 60 days.

At 31 December 2022, trade payables are denominated in RMB RZEZZF+ZA=+—H EHFEIK

and HKD of approximately RMB50,028,000 and RMB568,000 BHORMAARBRBTLHE 2R EA
(2021: RMB39,971,000 and RMB623,000) respectively. R #50,028,0007C &% A R #568,0007T ( =
T —F: ARM®39,971,000L K AR

623,0007T) °

31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. Bt ERARH LB RIE

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTT
Accruals of staff costs JEEF B TR 611 3,416
Accruals of operating expenses JEEtEER X 1,561 1,128
Payable to fixed assets vendor ENEEEEEHNIE - 855
Other payables Hh FE A 5RIR 15,948 7,925
18,120 13,324
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M BRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF
32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 32. 6HEE

The following provides information about contract liabilities UTEHEEEAONANAEBZER:
from contract with customers:

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTTT
At 1 January wn—A—H 30,007 20,110
Revenues recognised during the year FARBHBA (REFEH
that was included in the contract FFAEHEE)
liabilities at the beginning of the year (30,007) (20,110)
Increase in contract liabilities as a FAREFBRELEDN
result of advance from customers ERBEEM
during the year 46,537 30,007
At 31 December Rt+ZA=+—H 46,537 30,007
The contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to GHBEERASEERREXEREFPRE
transfer goods for which the Group has received consideration, BEEBERER - GHNEESN —F AR
or for which an amount of consideration is due from RAWA - ZEamE [E5E] 5% TP
customers. The contract liabilities would be recognised as REBFERBA -
revenue within one year. The Group recognises revenue when
“control” of goods is transferred to the customers.
In general, the Group receives certain percentage of the AEERERATEPEBR—ELLOBNE0EHE
contract sum as advance payment from the customers of the EREmIEEEMNRK .
sale of goods.
33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. RITER
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTT
Bank loans, secured RITER BEA 25,000 30,000
Less: Amounts classified under current D EARESAENNIA
liabilities
Secured bank loan that contain a BIER—FAIHEED
repayment due within one year BEMBITER (25,000) (30,000)
Amounts classified under DERIERBEEHFHIE
non-current liabilities = -
FESEAGEESR QA —E--F®R 129
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Bz2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

33. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Carrying amount repayable: JEEEFIAREE:
— within one year —R—FR
Secured bank loan BEMIRITER

At 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings were secured
by charges over the (1) Group’s investment property (2021:
buildings) with the carrying amount of approximately
RMB4,133,000 (2021: approximately RMB4,790,000); (2)
leasehold land with carrying amount of approximately
RMB2,260,000 (2021: approximately RMB2,333,000)
respectively; and (3) corporate guarantee provided by Zhuang
Yuejin, the director of the Company and his spouse. The
weighted average effective floating interest rate on the short-
term bank borrowings is 4.42% (2021: 4.78%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB of RMB25,000,000 (2021:
RMB30,000,000). The maturity date of bank borrowings is 21
June 2023.

There was no breach of covenants at 31 December 2022 (2021:
nil).
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33. BT

B (&)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TF T AREBTTT
25,000 30,000
25,000 30,000

MNZZT-_—F+-fF=+—8 BTEZKH
(MAEBEEmMENARKES133,0000t (=ZF
——F Y ARE4,790,0007T) IR E W E
(2)FEEEH AR2,096,000T (ZFE=—
F 4 AR¥2,260,00070) FEE 1 K& (3)
ARBEEHRENERBIRHEOQFER
E IR - RHRITER 2 MR EHERFH
NMERAGFANRB(ZT_TF:4782) -

RZEZZF+ZA=+—H UAR
BAEEZRTERZEEDEN AR AR
25,000,000 (ZE=Z—F: AR®
30,000,0007T) *RITEAXRHBEA AT ==
EFXA-Z+—R-

HE_T-_—F+-_A=+—H BEER
RHE(ZFEZ—F8|) -
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BRI (F)

W

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEr—F-—Ff-A=F+—HIFEF

34. LEASE LIABILITIES 34.
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had lease liabilities
as follows:
Within 1 year S —F KN

BBE—FERMEN
HBMFERAFAN

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 5 years

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from 3.4% t0 6.4% (2021: 4.6% 10 6.4%).

DEFERRED TAX ASSET

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior years:

35. 35.

R-Z-—F—f—H
NKEFERE (Mi213)
RS

At 1 January 2021
Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 13)
Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZB--F+ZA=+-

Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 13) NkEeFEER (Mit13)
Exchange alignment ERAE
At 31 December 2022 “ZHtZA=t-

Note:

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
RMB15,373,000 (2021: RMB9,409,000) available for offset against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams of the respective subsidiary of the Group which incurred the tax loss.

RESENHEES A

HEEE
RZEFZZFR-_FZ—F+A=+—8"
AEEMNHEBBRNT:
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

REHAERERE HEHEFERE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTIT

2,754 2,728

1,972 1,487

2,636 693

4,608 2,180

7,362 4,908
ERNEERENEEBRAEN F3.4%

264% (ZE=Z—F:146%£6.4%) °
EERBEE

RAFELBEFERBNEIRELH AR
ERHEZFHMT:

Allowance for
expected credit loss
on trade and

other receivables
ERESR
HttRENRHEERS
BRE

RMB'000
AREFL

3,943
(78)
40

AR=2--%-A—-H

B

pisz -

RIEB-Z—_F+-A=+—-—B AEEHEETRHE
BHEAKXERRENOARIAREBROARE
15,373,0007T ( =& = — 4 : AK%9,409,0007T) ° K
FAEE AE 7S 5 1R O 7 52 [ 4 A T BB 2 ) SR 200 IR Y
R TR - B AR B R AR B A TS B R R LT
BIREE

—E-F8® 131
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. @i E ZBHEL WA BEYEE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flow were, or future cashflows will be classified

in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from

financing activities.

At 1 January 2021
Non-cash item
Accrued interest

Additions to lease liabilities

Financing cash inflows

Financing cash outflows

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2021 and

1 January 2022

Non-cash item
Accrued interest

Additions to lease liabilities

Financing cash inflows

Financing cash outflows

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2022

TRALAEERETHELNREZEE
BERRACIIRCED RETHELNE
BERACREIARAKASRE SRNAEH
HARERERIBRABETHNEE

Lease Bank

liabilities borrowings Total

MEARE RITIER B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFIT AREFTT

W-_ZT-—%F—F—H 6,335 40,000 46,335
FHEEE

FEETF & 336 1,523 1,859

MEBERE 1,004 - 1,004

MEREBMA - 30,000 30,000

MERE M (2,914) (41,523) (44,437)

fE 3 3% 147 - 147

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—HK

—E-—%—-f—H 4,908 30,000 34,908
FREEE

FEETH & 570 1,500 2,070

HMEBERE 5,195 - 5,195

BMERERA = 45,000 45,000

MERE M (3,203) (51,500) (54,703)

b 5 7% (108) = (108)

RZEZZF+ZA=+—H 7,362 25,000 32,362

132 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o)

PR R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE
37.

38.

39.

CE A=+ —HIFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group has no material capital commitment as 31 December
2022 (2021: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment property
(note 19) (2021: buildings) (note 18) with a carrying amount
of approximately RMB4,133,000 (2021: approximately
RMB4,790,000) and leasehold land (note 20) with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,260,000 (2021: approximately
RMB2,333,000) were pledged to banks as collateral for secured
the bank borrowings.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contribution to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC
are members of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits.
The local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to
meet the required contributions under the scheme. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group has no
forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions
processed by the employer on behalf of the employee who
has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such contributions.)
As at 31 December 2022, no forfeited contribution under the
Pension Scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contributions payable in coming years.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of RMB1,665,000
(2021: RMB2,191,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plan.

RESENHEES A

37.

38.

39.

BARRE
AEEBR _E-_—_F+_/F=+—BIESE
RERERE(ZE=—F:F)-

EEEHRA

R —_F+_-_A=+—HB AXEHER@
EHAAREAL133,000 (Z T - —F: 4
AR #4,790,00070) ;IR E W 2 (M 5E19)
ZEZ—FEF) (WiF18) MEEAELY
ABARE2260,000 (ZTEZ—F:HAR
#52,333,0007T) R E L+ (MF7E20) B HE A
FIRITIEABSIRITERZ TR -

BIREFRE

AEERBEEBRHELTESHEGIN AR
EEAEREER I BHMERATESE
(e8] AEBEMARBESF B 2 #
PRBEEFERIEZS%tE  §4E
BEE AR LR A1,5008T - EERARES
REERERE NEREEME -RIER
BerrdEl BEXRHEEEHAKREEMEBEK
ABI5% Mo B8l MR - X8 AME
B8 UL A L BR A30,000/8 TR IR - M & & & 5

IR R -

RPBERIZAERBENBAR ZEBE /T
MRAZEEZHRERSFAEKE - ZH B
REAREEEAFENTIEZ-EBENL
AR RERE BRI ERERRENZE
oM MBS AGEAEZMNBRABRAER
BRARRENRER ZRIKENEE-ZH B
REIGLFREBA S E 2~ BERRER
EERAMBHK - AEENRIHFIR A S
REKRSFAEHRKEREERER - A%
B3 L WOR R 2 5T Bl R (BB TR H
REBAIRHAENEEETHR R
T _HF+-_A=1+—R AEERKEF
278 T 3 B WA R AT A A HIUR R R FE Y
FER R e

RIBER RN 4% AR 1,665,0007T
(ZZT=-—F: AR#2,191,0007T) BAREEH
Bt ER AR T B REMZESTENMER -

EFHW
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BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

40.

41.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material transaction with related
parties during the year.

Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Group’s directors and the senior executive
is as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MoRR
Employer contribution to pension scheme
Share based payment expenses

P A0 1~ 3R X2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date
of the scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant
options to the eligible participants, including but not limited
to, any Directors (whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not) and any employee (whether full
time or part time) of the Group or any other person, who has
contributed to the Group.
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0. EXBEFRS

B E RN EIHK

41.

BREEMBHRRANEMBORENRH RE
BRON FAREEERBEETITBEANTERR
5o

TEEBEAECZHE

IZEBRABZME BRENEAEBES
REHRITBRAESBEIT:

2022 2021
—EB-— & —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AR T T
2,139 2,100
15 41
1,044 -
3,198 2,141
BT E

RRARR-ZE—HFXNARABRWNETE
ZETEBEAEMBEHMBETFRBR MmERHA
HER_T_RF~AMNAB-

REZE EFARNEREERSRER
HERE BRETRRENES (THE
HITRFRTREEE L) RAKE ZEM
BE (FTmReRsRB)AHAEEESR
Bz EEM AL
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting
the Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided
that the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting. However, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the scheme and any other scheme of the company must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time. At 31 December 2022, an aggregate of 29,460,000 share
options granted under the Scheme remained outstanding,
which represented approximately 16.8% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant
as may be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the date of the grant of
the options; (ii) the average closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.

On 13 May 2022, an aggregate of 16,700,000 share options
granted under the Scheme to the eligible participants and the
closing price of the shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted was HK$0.415.

RESENHEES A

a1. BRERTE (&

BRBEZTEEL Z BREEITER 7] T
TZBRNEE &Z TBBARRRRNERNZL
BEHZEBEITRAI0% ;2 ERATEERE
o METREAETSBBEBRERARERS
HEER ARAIZEBITRAZ210% ° A
M REBEZTERANAREMEMGTE D
HERMRITEZ 2 BERERETER 7] T
BB BEIEBB IR ETRMNZ
30% RZZEZ_ZF+_A=+—H 1BE
% T B 8 $£5129,460,00017 B8 ML R 1T
AR EEBEITRAL16.8% - REM
T AEAR AEAEALERELZE
REETER A TFET2ROESEET
BHBEZT_REAMERE -—REAQFZE
BIIRMZ1% BRIERB EMALEHRAR
AR R AL ERIER R - REAXREIVEBTEAR
B B AR R S A o

BRETRROBEREABRES EERY
HBHEFOEMEBATE MHARHBE
ERAE-TEEBIHESFET AHITE
RUTz&&E: (VRBRERH B HERN
MRS B WERA SR WHE (i) BZ
B R M B IR R E S X A RO R
FREMEBRMABZFHRTE i) @
Ho

RZTE-_—_FRA+=0 REZFEAE
B2 EERTE A $£16,700,0001) i85 B% #
RN ERE BB RGO KR TEA0.415
T e

4
I
I
H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BFE - FE-_—#Ff_A=1—HIFZF

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. BRESTE (£&)
Details of the movements of the share options granted by the AATRBEREFIREMEREARD
Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme from the date AHIRRHEBFENT -

of grant are as below:

At 31 December 2022 R-ZBEZZF+=R=+—H
Movement during the period
BRey
Exercise price  Outstanding at Outstanding at
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 30 June 2022 Exercise period
R=BzzZf R=BzZf
e -A-8 ABZTH
RUBH B HRTR g =534 B BAM HATR RS
Category 1:
B
Directors
2
Zhuang Yuejin 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
HEE “ECZERATEA ZECSERATRAR
Z3-ZFRATHEA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“B-CFRATER “B-CFRATZHE
ZECmERATZA
Wong Ho Yin 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
EER ZEZZERATEA ZE-ZFRATRAR
“ECCERATRA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZRC-CFRATER “RC-CFRATZHE
“RCmERATZA
Xiao Suni 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
H i ZECTERATRA “2-ZFRATRAZ
ZEZZERATMA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZRCCERAT=R “ECZCFRATZRE
“B-mERATZA
Zhu Chunyan 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
RER CZCEERATRA “Z-TERATRAZ
ZECZERATRA
Total 3,184,000 5,010,000 (3,160,000) = (24,000) 5,010,000
ax
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ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At 31 December 20

Category 1:
B
Directors
Bz
Zhuang Yuejin
g3

Wong Ho Yin

EER

Xiao Suni

BEIE

Zhu Chunyan
REHK

RESENHEES A

21

Date of grant

BRHAH

15 May 2020
—“T-TFRA+RA

15 May 2020
SE-BERATEA

15 May 2020
—Z-ZFRA+EA

15 May 2020
—Z2-Z£RATHAE

Total Directors

EEEG

Movement during the year

a1. BRERT & (F)

Fhg
Outstanding Outstanding at
at 1 January 31 December
2021 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2021
RZB-—F RZBZ-%F
~A—A +=A=t-8
HATE BERE BT BAM HATE
796,000 - - - 796,000
796,000 - - - 796,000
796,000 - - - 796,000
796,000 - - - 796,000
3,184,000 - - - 3,184,000

RNZZE-—F+=-_A=+—H

Exercise period

TEH

15 May 2020 to
14 May 2022
“Z-ZF¥RA+THABZE
—T--FRA+MA

15 May 2020 to
14 May 2022
“ZZZFRATHAEZE
“Z-ERA+TMA

15 May 2020 to
14 May 2022
—T-TFRATHBEZE
“EZZFRA+MA

15 May 2020 to
14 May 2022
“Z-ZERATREZE
—Z--ERATHA
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BE_FE_—Ff _H=F—HIFE

. i =1
41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) a1. BRETE (&)
At 31 December 2022 R=ZB=Z=ZF+=H=+—8H
Movement during the period
AR
Exercise price Outstanding at Outstanding at
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 30 June 2022 Exercise period
RZBzZF RZBZZE
TRE -A-8
REBH BT HRTE [BE:d [SKix:d ga# BAM HRTE RS
Category 2:
832
Employees 4 April 2019 2.500 4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000 4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
BB “T-N\FEAMA “E-NENANAE
“E-NERAZA
15 May 2020 0.425 4,776,000 = (4,740,000) = (36,000) = 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
ZZ-RFRATRA ZZ-FFRATRAZR
—E-C-ERA+MmA
12 May 2021 0.690 7,960,000 - - - - 7,960,000 12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023
ZE--%1ATZH E-_-FRATCAZ
ZTZZERAT-A
13 May 2022 0.433 - 11,690,000 - - - 11,690,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZZ-ZFRATZR T__FRAT=RZE
Total 17,536,000 11,690,000 (4,740,000) - (36,000) 24,450,000
@
Total 20,720,000 16,700,000 (7,900,000) - (60,000) 29,460,000
@
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H
At 31 December 2021
Movement during the year
ERED
Outstanding
before share  Outstanding at Outstanding at
Outstanding at consolidation 31 December 31 December
Date of grant 1 January 2020 Granted Exercised Lapsed (note) 2020 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2021 Exercise period
W-2-%% REREaHE R-B-2% RZB=-%
-A-8 WATE tZA=t-A tZR=+-8
REAH HATE BRHE B BAX (K) HATTE [e5: 8 Bk BAX HATE RS
Employees and others 31 May 2017 11,040,000 - - (11,040,000) - - - - - - 31 May 2017 to 30 May 2027
BEREM ZZ-tERA=T-B ZE-tEFRAZT-RE
“ECHERAZTA
14 November 2017 39,300,000 - - (39,800,000) - - - - - - 14 November 2017 to
“E-tEt-ATER 13 November 2027
Z3-tF+-ATRAZ
ZRotET-RtEH
4 April 2019 24,000,000 - - - 24,000,000 4,800,000 - - - 4,800,000 4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
“Z-NEMARA ZE-N\ERARAZ
“RCNERAZA
15 May 2020 - 23,880,000 - - 23,880,000 4,776,000 - - - 4,776,000 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
“R-TFIATEA F_TERATIAE
12 May 2021 - - - - - - 7,960,000 - - 7,960,000
R-F--FIA1ZR
Total 74,840,000 23,880,000 - (50,840,000) 47,880,000 9,576,000 7,960,000 - - 17,536,000

@t
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CE A=+ —HIFE
41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Note: The Share Consolidation of every five issued and unissued existing
shares of per value of HK$0.005 each in the share capital of the

Company into one consolidated share with a per value of HK$0.025

each was effective on 30 September 2020. The corresponding share

option and exercise price were revised.

The fair value of share options were calculated using the
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Date of grant

Grant date share price
Exercise price before Share

Consolidation

Exercise price after Share

Consolidation

Expected volatility

Expected life
Risk-free rate

Expected dividend yield

RHAH

B A E R B

B & G AT EE

B & GHRITEE
B H R IR

BHER

2 [ M) 2
BB B M %

2021.05.12
—B=-—-F
FA+Z=H

HKDO0.697% 7T
HKDO0.697% 7T

HKDO0.697% 7T
148.93%

2 years FF
0.096%

0%

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the equity-settled
share-based payment were approximately RMB3,008,000

(2021: RMB2,218,000).

RESENHEES A

41.

BRERE (&)

et BRIDEHABARRARAPERREREE
0.005B THEHITEARETHRAERNDAEHE
—REREE.025E TN A HKRN R 22
TEARA=TRBER - MAEBBRERITEE
EESCHIN

BRENATFEER —BARUGTHE - ER

AR AZEIT
2020.05.15 2019.04.09
—ECEF —E-NF
EA+HA BAhH

HKDO0.074/87C  HKD0.067/8 7T
HKDO0.085/% 7T HKDO.17 7T
HKDO0.425% 7T HKDO.57% 7T
88.78% 75.596%

2 years 10 years
0.342% 1.559%

0% 0%

HE—_Z-_—_F+-A=+—BH1LEFE"
WA AER IO RELY
—F AR

NEREE
A AR #3,008,0007T (=

2,218,0007T) °

= —

—_—=

2022.05.13
—g-C
EAT=H

HKDO0.415/ 7T
HKDO0.433/ 7T

HKD0.4335 7T
141.378%

2 years FF
2.330%

0%
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42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 42, KR T BERRER 2ER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B RRHERE 18,760 18,760
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 31
18,760 18,791
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERFRIE e &
other receivables H fth B U FRTA 1,604 1,609
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a))  FEUSHT B A & FIE (Kt (a)) 72,210 59,955
Cash and bank balances Re RiRITE R 108 5,223
73,922 66,787
Total assets EEHE 92,682 85,578
EQUITY B
Capital and reserves attributable to EATEBEANEEELRFEE
the owners of the Company
Share capital N 3,643 3,476
Reserves (note (b)) & (Hatmb)) 88,326 81,655
Total equity ERBE 91,969 85,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables & 5T B B K H 4t & A~ FRIE
Lease liabilities HESRE

Total liabilities BEHAE

Total equity and liabilities ERnkaEdas

Net current assets RBEERESE

Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAERE

Net assets EEZFE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and
signed on its behalf by:

Zhuang Yuejin
HREE
Director

EF

RESENHEES A

42, AREHBRRARZER (&)

2022 2021
—E—-= —E -4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR T T
713 415

- 32

713 447

713 447
92,682 85,578
73,209 66,340
91,969 85,131
91,969 85,131

R-TE_=F=ZA=+t—HAEFSHET

BHTIALTRERES:

Wong Ho Yin
BER
Director

EF

A
I
I
H
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e B MR (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

E2-F -

FroA=+—BILFE

42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured,

interest-free and recoverable on demand.

Movement of the Company’s reserves.

At 1 January 2021

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Share-based payment expenses

Issue of share upon placing

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Share-based payment expenses

Exercise of share options

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2022

RZF=-—%—-A—H
FEER
FEEMZAMS

FEEEMXER

R HEX
INTSEST)

RZZZ—F+ZA=+—-HBRK
—Z--f—-f—H

FEES

FEAMZEKE

FERENRG/ (AX) 8%
R HER
TiRERRE
BRER K

RZF-ZF+=-A=+—H

42, AREHBRRARZER (&)

Bat -

(@) ERMBARNRERFEZILE BEF 28
iz g spigmE -

(b) ARAFHEZEE-

Foreign
currency Share
Share  Contributed  translation option Accumulated

premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R 45RE BABR HNERERE BRERSE 2HER Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
304,721 17,219 20,369 3,868 (278,841) 67,336
- - - - (3,180) (3,180)
- - (2,049) - - (2,049)
- - (2,049) - (3,180) (5,229)

- - - 2,218 - 2,218

17,330 - - - - 17,330
322,051 17,219 18,320 6,086 (282,021) 81,655
- - - - (4,783) (4,783)

- - 5771 - - 5,771

- - 5,771 - (4,783) 988

- - - 3,008 - 3,008

3,594 - - (919) - 2,675

- _ . ) 7 _
325,645 17,219 24,091 8,168 (286,797) 88,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBmRME (F
For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECE - —Ff AT HIFE

43. NON-CASH TRANSACTION
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the equity-settled
share-based payment were approximately RMB3,008,000
(2021: RMB2,218,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately RMB5,195,000 (2021: RMB1,004,000)
and approximately RMB5,195,000 (2021: RMB1,004,000),
respectively in respect of lease arrangements for office premises
and factories.

44. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2023.

RESENHEES A

43.

44,

F(RERS
BHE-_TE_—_F+-_A=+—HILFE"
NEREET ARG AER I AOREY
ARM3, 008,000 (ZE=-—F : ARK
2,218,0007T) °

BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLEFE K
SEEBARAENENBENHELHNE
AESEREEEEZHFBESRTED IR
HANRHES 195,000 (ZE = —F: AR
1,004,0007T) & #9 A R #5,195,0005T (=&
——%: AR%1,004,0007T) °

BRETBSSUBEREX

GAVMERROCN -_E-_=F=A=+—8H
EEEEAENIRETIE-
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERHE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets LA TN AAR&EBEILZ Ty s EEHFR 2 2 T35
and liabilities of the group prepared on the bases set out in the note ¥4%&HEENBEHE:
below:

Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=+-BHLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\F ZE-NF ZZTFTF =ZT=-— —E=-=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%®FR

Revenue WA 194,527 260,896 141,626 181,701 184,036
Gross profit EF 17,959 23,940 13,485 24,039 19,486
Loss before tax R AR BB (63,636) (31,482) (6,286) (175) (78,470)
Loss for the year ZIN/NEIEZEDN
attributable to owners BIEFEEIE
of the Company (64,925) (30,176) (3,890) (410) (78,558)
Basic loss per share FREAREE
(RMB cents) (ARES) (16.3) (37.9) (4.6) (0.29) (45.56)

As at 31 December

Rt=A=t—8~
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\FE ZT-NF ZFZTF T =2==

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTET ARBTT ARBTT AR¥TR

Non-current assets FERBEE 69,749 71,503 70,590 65,321 51,790
Current assets BN EE 255,432 251,059 244,714 278,521 255,427
Current liabilities BB E 126,432 143,187 135,513 151,954 180,943
Non-current liabilities ERFEE - 3,262 3,727 2,180 4,608
Net assets FEE 198,749 176,113 176,064 189,708 121,666
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